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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There have been

          3  concerns here in the City that the balance between

          4  ensuring public security and protecting people's

          5  civil rights and liberties is being unnecessarily

          6  titled to the right. The issue now represents itself

          7  again because the Republican National Convention

          8  demonstrations that are currently being planned for

          9  this summer. The urgency of the current situation is

         10  underscored by the fact that several groups are

         11  currently suing the City for not replying in a

         12  timely fashion, or all-out denying their application

         13  to have a political demonstration.

         14                 As Americans we pride ourselves on

         15  having the free-est democracy on this planet. The

         16  call for this oversight is in part to determine

         17  whether our permit process, and overzealous

         18  anti-terrorist policing are unnecessarily burdening,

         19  or creating a chilling effect on New Yorkers to

         20  freely organize and express themselves.

         21                 I do want to make clear this Council

         22  and this Committee certainly understand the need for

         23  balance in this inquiry.

         24                 This Committee is certainly concerned

         25  about ensuring the public safety. This Committee
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          2  understands that the world has changed since

          3  September 11th, and we are fully cognizant of this

          4  change.

          5                 And, so, this hearing is called to

          6  better understand how this change has effected

          7  police practice, and to evaluate such changes.

          8                 There is also a resolution before

          9  this Committee, Resolution 389-A. Such resolution

         10  calls upon government officials to protect and

         11  uphold First Amendment Rights to freedom of speech,

         12  association and assembly.

         13                 We expect to hear today from the New

         14  York Civil Liberties Union, the Legal Aid Society,

         15  United for Peace and Justice and other members of

         16  the public.

         17                 These different groups will speak to

         18  various different components of the issue at hand.

         19                 I want to reiterate that this is an

         20  extremely weighty issue on both sides. The intent of

         21  this hearing is to pull out the complex array of

         22  facts, circumstances and issues surrounding this

         23  controversy and any political undercurrent

         24  surrounding the facts and issues.

         25                 There is nothing more valuable to
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          2  democracy than the right to organize, and express

          3  one's self, and, of course, there is nothing more

          4  important to the citizens of this City than to

          5  protect them from harm and danger.

          6                 It is the firm belief of this

          7  Committee, as expressed in Reso 389-A, that a common

          8  ground exists, and this is the reason for holding

          9  hearings to define what that ground is and implement

         10  it.

         11                 We cannot curb speech a little here

         12  or a little there because it is easier or more

         13  efficient to do so.

         14                 By the same token, we cannot be

         15  irresponsible in our administration of our rights to

         16  a point where someone is in danger.

         17                 But that's what this is. It is a

         18  process, and this hearing is part of that process.

         19  Before we begin, I'd like to first inform you that

         20  as you may know, the Council right now is in the

         21  midst of budget deliberations, and some of the

         22  members of this Committee and other members of the

         23  Council that would normally be here at this time are

         24  involved with some of those negotiations, and they

         25  will be coming in and out of the hearing, and some
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          2  are also involved in other hearings.

          3                 But I would like to acknowledge at

          4  this point in time the Chairman of our Civil Service

          5  and Labor Committee, Joseph Addabbo.

          6                 I want to recognize the Counsel to

          7  the Committee, Matthew Tollin, and our Policy

          8  Analyst, Sandy Dillon, and our Press Secretary,

          9  Maria Alvarado.

         10                 We will begin with our first panel

         11  that will consist of representatives of the New York

         12  Civil Liberties Union, Udi Ofer; Donna Lieberman;

         13  and from the office of Assemblyman Dick Gottfried,

         14  Connie Ress. I would also like to recognize

         15  Christopher Dunn, attorney for the New York Civil

         16  Liberties Union.

         17                 MR. TOLLIN: Please raise your right

         18  hands.

         19                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         20  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

         21  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         22                 MS. LIEBERMAN: I do.

         23                 MR. DUNN: I do.

         24                 MS. RESS: I do.

         25                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.
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          2                 Could you before giving your

          3  testimony state your name and your organization

          4  you're affiliated with.

          5                 MS. LIEBERMAN: My name is Donna

          6  Lieberman. I'm the Executive Director of the New

          7  York Civil Liberties Union.

          8                 I want to thank you, Council Member

          9  Perkins, for your leadership in protecting the right

         10  to protest, both with regard to this resolution, and

         11  with regard to the problems that have arisen all too

         12  frequently in conjunction with demonstrations before

         13  and since February 15th.

         14                 I'm here to present testimony in

         15  support of New Yorkers' First Amendment Rights to

         16  free speech, association and assembly, all the time,

         17  but in particular at the forthcoming Republican

         18  National Convention.

         19                 We are pleased that you have

         20  sponsored Resolution 389-A, and we urge the Council

         21  to pass it overwhelmingly so that the Council is on

         22  record supporting affirmative measures to protect

         23  protest at the Republican Convention, and as I said

         24  before, always.

         25                 We, in New York, have a long and
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          2  robust tradition of protecting the rights to free

          3  speech, and we should not abandon that tradition

          4  just because the Republican Convention is coming to

          5  town.

          6                 It is incumbent upon our City to roll

          7  out the welcome mat, not just for the Republican

          8  Convention, but the same size mat for those who come

          9  to protect it.

         10                 Unfortunately, the City has not

         11  indicated that it's about to do that, and we have a

         12  long, a too long history of problems regarding First

         13  Amendment activity.

         14                 According to the Police Department,

         15  about 20 applications for protest permits have been

         16  filed with them, with regard to the Republican

         17  convention.

         18                 As of this date, not a single one has

         19  been granted.

         20                 Those applications have been pending

         21  for as long as a year, and the Police Department has

         22  not been able, or seen fit, to act on any of them.

         23                 Moreover, the City has refused to

         24  agree to abandon any of the policing tactics that it

         25  engaged in on February 15th, that by everybody
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          2  else's account substantially interfered with the

          3  rights of protest.

          4                 Indeed, although the City abandoned

          5  the first hearing that -- I'm sorry, the City

          6  boycotted the first hearing that you held that

          7  follow in the February 15th demonstration, when it

          8  ultimately chose to appear it claimed that the

          9  police had done nothing wrong.

         10                 It seems that the City sees -- saw no

         11  reason to explain its actions then, and sees no

         12  reason to explain its actions to the City Council

         13  and to the people of this City of New York today.

         14                 The Mayor is clearly ill-informed. In

         15  an encounter on the steps of City Hall earlier

         16  today, he told us that if you want a permit to

         17  demonstrate, all you have to do is apply.

         18                 What newspaper is he reading? The

         19  applications have been pending for over a year, Mr.

         20  Mayor. It's time to respond, and it's time to

         21  respond with permits, not rhetoric.

         22                 The New York Civil Liberties Union

         23  has identified four areas of concern that have to be

         24  addressed by City officials to protect the right to

         25  protest.
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          2                 First, the regulation of

          3  administration of protest activity.

          4                 Second, the creation of no protest

          5  zones around the garden; and

          6                 Third, the use of pens and

          7  barricades, and the use of force by the police at

          8  events, at protest events around the convention; and

          9                 Fourth, the surveillance and

         10  infiltration of lawful political groups seeking to

         11  engage in peaceful protest.

         12                 The City has to respond to permit

         13  applications in a timely fashion, and it can't

         14  simply deny applications. It must engage in

         15  negotiations. It is true the Police Department has

         16  engaged in negotiations with at least one group and

         17  is beginning to engage in negotiations far too late,

         18  but it's beginning to engage in negotiations with

         19  others.

         20                 The Department of Parks has taken a

         21  negotiation stance. It denied a permit application

         22  for Central Park for a rally for United for Peace

         23  and Justice, and offered no explanation other than

         24  the grass, and no reasonable alternative. It's a big

         25  park and it's incumbent upon the Parks Department to
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          2  offer an alternative to the organizers of the

          3  protest so that they can meet the objections.

          4                 It's also important that the Police

          5  Department not engage in protest zones, that are

          6  really no protest zones.

          7                 We recognize that special measures

          8  may be required to protect safety and security of

          9  elected officials attending a convention. But those

         10  concerns cannot become a pretext for security

         11  measures that unduly frustrate or deny participation

         12  in protest activities.

         13                 They must allow protest activity to

         14  occur within sight and sound of the garden, and they

         15  must do so, not just in theory, but when the rubber

         16  hits the road.

         17                 The unreasonable use of barricades

         18  and pens and force by the Police Department was

         19  particularly pronounced during the February 15th,

         20  2003 anti-war demonstration, and it must be avoided

         21  at the Republican Convention.

         22                 We call on the City to minimize the

         23  use of barricades that confine the movement of

         24  people at demonstrations, and to abandon completely

         25  those four-sided enclosures they call pens that herd
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          2  people like animals and deny them the ability to

          3  move freely back and forth and get together with the

          4  organizations they've come with at any

          5  demonstration.

          6                 We also call upon the Police

          7  Department to refrain from the unnecessary use of

          8  force, including horses, pepper spray or other

          9  instruments of force that were all too prevalent on

         10  February 15th, except to the minimal extent required

         11  necessitated by legitimate law enforcement purposes.

         12                 And it's time for the Police

         13  Department to get training on the use of force, and

         14  that includes with regard to horses. You can't ride

         15  horses into a peaceful crowd like the Police

         16  Department did on February 15th, and sees no problem

         17  with. And you can't expect the Police Department,

         18  the police officers on the horses or in charge of

         19  sending them out to know what they're doing if there

         20  are no written guidelines for their activity. Both

         21  of those things have to happen.

         22                 Finally, about surveillance and

         23  infiltration of political groups. New York has a

         24  notorious history of engaging in political

         25  surveillance of the critics of our government. It
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          2  goes way back to the McCarthy era, continued through

          3  the civil rights movement and the anti-war movement,

          4  and it seems that the City is determined to

          5  resurrect that practice now in the name of fighting

          6  terrorism.

          7                 It is important that the City Council

          8  go on record opposing political surveillance. That

          9  means no surveillance of organizations based solely

         10  on First Amendment activities. And it's also

         11  important that the Police Department be required to

         12  maintain the paper trail whenever it does engage in

         13  surveillance.

         14                 So that we can hold that accountable

         15  and so that the Police Department within its own

         16  ranks is accountable not to use its powers to show

         17  First Amendment activities.

         18                 Accordingly, Resolution 389-A

         19  provides that notwithstanding some relaxation in the

         20  Handschu Guidelines, which set out the limitations

         21  on political surveillance by the Police Department,

         22  not withstanding that relaxed oversight, the Police

         23  Departments will not engage in investigation or

         24  surveillance of religious or political organizations

         25  based solely on the First Amendment activities for

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  people associated with those organizations.

          3                 The provisions of 389-A embodied

          4  fundamental principles long recognized in First

          5  Amendment jurisprudence.

          6                 These same principles are also

          7  reflected in the Memorandum of Understanding that

          8  members of our congressional delegation are seeking

          9  to enter into with Mayor Bloomberg.

         10                 Both Resolution 389-A and the memo of

         11  understanding share a common objective that the New

         12  York Civil Liberties Union heartily endorses, that

         13  New York City demonstrate its greatness and

         14  commitment to the principle on which this country is

         15  founded on the occasion of the Republican Convention

         16  by celebrating the principles of Democratic freedom.

         17  That means being as welcoming to the protesters, as

         18  it is to the Convention.

         19                 So, we welcome this initiative by the

         20  City Council and hope that you'll act quickly and

         21  expeditiously to make it happen, and also

         22  aggressively to ensure that the Mayor, specifically

         23  the organizations that have asked them to meet with

         24  them, and that the City Police Department act

         25  expeditiously on the permits. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: From Assemblyman

          3  Gottfried's Office.

          4                 MS. RESS: Thank you, Councilman

          5  Perkins.

          6                 My name is Connie Ress, and I'm here

          7  on behalf of Assembly Member Richard Gottfried, who

          8  represents the 75th Assembly District in Manhattan,

          9  which includes the neighborhoods of Chelsea,

         10  Clinton, Midtown, part of the Upper West Side, and

         11  Murray Hill. I will now read his statement.

         12                 I appreciate this opportunity to

         13  present testimony today in support of the City

         14  Council Resolution on the right to assembly.

         15                 I regret that due to the legislative

         16  session in Albany, I am unable to appear today in

         17  person.

         18                 I thank Speaker Gifford Miller and

         19  Council Member Bill Perkins, Chair of the Government

         20  Operations Committee, for the introduction of this

         21  resolution and for holding this hearing.

         22                 Resolution 389 reiterates that our

         23  First Amendment rights of speech, association and

         24  assembly is paramount to our society. It is what

         25  makes us Americans.
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          2                 I'm very concerned that activities

          3  during the Republican Convention in August will be

          4  silenced or pushed out of the way, supposedly for

          5  the comfort of those participating at the

          6  convention.

          7                 Our civil rights cannot be sacrificed

          8  for political purposes. Some people refuse to learn

          9  from history, protest does not just go away.

         10                 In Chicago at the 1968 Democratic

         11  Convention, and many times in this City, we have

         12  seen the disastrous consequences when the City fails

         13  to deal reasonably and fairly with people who feel

         14  strongly about their views. There may be some in the

         15  republican party who think that provoking disruption

         16  in our streets will benefit them politically.

         17                 The Bloomberg Administration should

         18  not be playing into their hands and jeopardizing our

         19  rights and public security.

         20                 In February 2003, hundreds of

         21  thousands of thousands assembled to express their

         22  opposition to the Iraq war and asked for a permit to

         23  march down 1st Avenue past the United Nations.

         24                 The permit was not granted for that

         25  location but protesters were allowed to assemble
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          2  blocks away.

          3                 The police barricaded people as far

          4  away as 72nd Street and Second Avenue, nowhere near

          5  the United Nations.

          6                 I'm equally concerned about the

          7  recent denial by the New York City Parks Department

          8  of a permit for an August 29th, 2004 rally on

          9  Central Park's great lawn.

         10                 The rally proposed by United for

         11  Peace and Justice would occur the day before the

         12  Republican National Convention opened. I understand

         13  that the Parks Department has denied the permit

         14  based on concern for the well-being of the lawn, and

         15  its ability to hold a massive number of people.

         16                 However, in 1982, more than 500,000

         17  people attended an anti-nuclear disarmament rally on

         18  the great lawn, and more recently, a 1997 Garth

         19  Brooks concert drew 250,000 people, according to the

         20  New York Police Department, both leaving little or

         21  no damage to the lawn.

         22                 Dissent is good and necessary and the

         23  right to peacefully protest government policy is

         24  fundamental to our democracy. I urge the City

         25  Council to pass resolution 389 and ask that the City
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          2  Council and Mayor Bloomberg continue New York's

          3  strong tradition of commitment to civil liberties by

          4  issuing the appropriate permits and allowing the

          5  protest to continue.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Let me extend my appreciation to the

         10  Assemblyman for taking the time to share his

         11  concerns. I understand that there are some serious

         12  matters before you -- before him at the State

         13  Legislature, so please let him know we appreciate

         14  his response at our request to testify.

         15                 I am very concerned that we have such

         16  high regard for the rights of the grass in Central

         17  Park, by comparison to the rights of people of the

         18  City of New York, and, you know, who paid for that

         19  grass in Central Park. And I find it elusive, the

         20  reasoning, especially in light of the fact that

         21  we've had similar such demonstrations in the park,

         22  and the park still exists. In fact, it's better now

         23  than ever before, I jog in it every morning. It's

         24  one of my favorite places in the City.

         25                 And, so I'm wondering if any of you
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          2  can share with me, why do you think there was this

          3  decision to deny the use of the park?

          4                 Do you believe that perhaps there

          5  might have been some other political reasons other

          6  than those that may have been given?

          7                 Can anybody respond?

          8                 MR. DUNN: Council Member Perkins,

          9  I'll take a crack at that.

         10                 I mean, one of the problems that we

         11  have faced, and you will hear from United for Peace

         12  and Justice directly about this, but as lawyers that

         13  represent them, along with the Center for

         14  Constitutional Rights, one of the problems has been

         15  the opaqueness of the decision-making process here,

         16  and we had meetings with the Police Department, we

         17  had meetings over at the Parks Department, there is

         18  certainly a strong feeling amongst those of us who

         19  were in those meetings that neither the Police

         20  Department nor the Parks Department was talking

         21  straight to us about what was going on. After the

         22  Parks Department meeting, United for Peace and

         23  Justice made it very clear that it was happy to

         24  engage in a discussion about concerns about damage

         25  to the park and things that it could do to minimize
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          2  that. Parks Department said, well, we're going to

          3  think about that, and the next thing we knew, ten

          4  days later, without any further discussion, without

          5  any further meetings, there was a denial.

          6                 You should know, and I think the one

          7  reason why this hearing is particularly timely, and

          8  I'm hoping that Council Member Vallone will be able

          9  to help us out on this.

         10                 Hello, Council Member Vallone.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I just walked

         12  in.

         13                 MR. DUNN: I know you just walked in,

         14  we're going to drag you into this fight right from

         15  the beginning.

         16                 United for Peace and Justice has

         17  asked for a meeting with the Mayor to talk about the

         18  availability of the park. There is no question this

         19  is a decision that is being made in the Mayor's

         20  Office. It's not a decision to be made in the Police

         21  Department, not a decision to be made by the Parks

         22  Department. This is a decision that is at the feet

         23  of Mayor Bloomberg, and he needs to explain why the

         24  decision was made, and we think that he needs to

         25  meet with United for Peace and Justice and have a
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          2  real dialogue about this event.

          3                 And with respect to the park, Council

          4  Member Perkins, I think you're absolutely right.

          5  What has made the great lawn the great lawn is that

          6  a whole range of activities have taken place in that

          7  space for decades in New York City, ranging from you

          8  jogging to people having picnics, to people playing

          9  softball, to large political demonstrations. And it

         10  is a scandal for the City of New York to say that

         11  the great lawn is now closed to political

         12  demonstrations because they are concerned about the

         13  grass.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Anyone else? I

         15  want to recognize our colleague, the Chairman of the

         16  Public Safety Committee, Council Member Peter

         17  Vallone, Jr., has arrived.

         18                 You touched on something in terms of

         19  the decision-making process, in terms of it being

         20  directly made, these are decisions coming directly

         21  out of the Mayor's Office. I know in the past, it

         22  appeared as if there were outside forces so-to-speak

         23  that were involved in the decision-making, or in

         24  some aspects of the February 15th decisions, that

         25  became evident when we had our hearing, following

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  the February 15th hearings.

          3                 Do you have any idea as to other

          4  outside forces, agencies, et cetera, that might be

          5  involved in the decision-making on this? That might

          6  have a bearing on the delay or the decision as to

          7  when and where and how these protesting took place?

          8                 MS. LIEBERMAN: No. The Police

          9  Department has assured us that it is making

         10  decisions about the permit application. But it's

         11  clear that this is not business as usual, because a

         12  number of organizations have reported that they have

         13  applied for permits, and, in fact, in some cases

         14  permits had been granted initially and were

         15  subsequently revoked when it was realized that they

         16  were for dates during the Republican Convention.

         17                 So, we don't know for sure why this

         18  is not business as usual, why the procedures that

         19  people thought they could count on for past

         20  demonstrations are not being followed, but it's

         21  clear that this is special, and it's not special in

         22  a way that protects protests, special in a way that

         23  it is hampering it.

         24                 MR. DUNN: And let me add one thing to

         25  that.
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          2                 Council Member Perkins, I assume you

          3  were alluding to the federal government.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes.

          5                 MR. DUNN: And the Secret Service?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And there is no

          7  doubt that they are playing a role in the overall

          8  decision-making about the policing of convention

          9  demonstrations, but that role should not in any way

         10  direct or divert attention from the fact that it is

         11  the City of New York that is primarily responsible

         12  for this. It is the New York City Police Department

         13  that is responsible for the delays. It is the

         14  Mayor's Office that is responsible for what's

         15  happened in Central Park, and while we certainly

         16  have concerns about the role the federal government

         17  is going to play, particularly during that last week

         18  in August and the beginning of September, the

         19  responsibility right now for the problems that we

         20  are talking about, lay squarely at the feet of New

         21  York City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: What do you

         23  consider to be the most significant constitutional

         24  issue surrounding the City policies and practices

         25  regarding these political demonstrations?
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          2                 MS. LIEBERMAN: Well, it couldn't be

          3  more basic.

          4                 This is about the First Amendment.

          5  This is about whether the right to protest depends

          6  on who is protesting and what the message is and who

          7  their target is.

          8                 When the Republican Convention comes

          9  to town, it's democracy in action. The elections are

         10  democracy in action, but if the streets are only

         11  open to those who come to participate in the

         12  Republican Convention, and not to those who come to

         13  protest it, then the First Amendment takes a real

         14  beating, and it couldn't be more basic than that.

         15  This is about the core value of speech and

         16  expression.

         17                 MR. DUNN: And to just add one point

         18  to that. That, of course, is the overriding concern,

         19  but the specific concerns, and Council Member

         20  Vallone, it's deeply unfortunate that your friends

         21  in the Police Department are not here today.

         22                 I keep trying to drag you into this.

         23  And I know you're going to get into it, but it's

         24  unfortunate they are not here so they can explain,

         25  for instance, why it is we are sitting here on, I'm
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          2  sorry, June 16th? June 16th. There have been permit

          3  applications pending for over a year. We have

          4  clients who have had permit applications pending

          5  since December. We are only now starting to have

          6  meetings. How come the Police Department has had the

          7  opportunity to plan for over a year and a half for

          8  this, and convention protesters are going to have

          9  perhaps two months. There are substantial delays in

         10  the permitting process.

         11                 And the second big problem is, and

         12  the concern that arises most dramatically out of

         13  February 15th, is a concern about people not being

         14  able to get to convention demonstrations because of

         15  restrictions and access, the concerns about people

         16  ending up like cattle in pens at demonstrations that

         17  it cannot get out of, as happened with February

         18  15th.

         19                 And the prospect of people just

         20  trying to go to demonstrations are getting run over

         21  by members of the mounted unit, which happened to

         22  many people on February 15th.

         23                 These are fundamental concerns. I am

         24  sure they are concerns that Council Member Vallone

         25  shares with us. It is too bad the Police Department
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          2  is not here to explain that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

          4  Vallone is on a gag order (laughter.)

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: This is a

          6  free speech hearing, right?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: A free speech

          8  hearing, he's on a gag order.

          9                 But let me just acknowledge the

         10  presence of our Chairwoman of our Health Committee,

         11  Christine Quinn has joined us.

         12                 Council Member Vallone.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I just wanted

         14  to briefly say, thank you for giving me so much

         15  credit. But the Mayor doesn't meet with people that

         16  I ask him to meet with, and my friends in the Police

         17  Department don't show up when I tell them to show

         18  up. Thank you for thinking that I have that power, I

         19  just don't, but I look forward to the rest of your

         20  testimony. I'm under gag order, I have to shut up

         21  now.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: What is the

         23  status of the lawsuit regarding the pens?

         24                 I know New York Civil Liberties Union

         25  sued the Department for the practice of using pens
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          2  to contain demonstrators, and I know that such pens

          3  have been very controversial in other

          4  demonstrations; can you give us an update on that

          5  situation?

          6                 MR. DUNN: First you should

          7  understand, the lawsuit that is pending in federal

          8  court on which we have closing arguments tomorrow,

          9  deals not just with the issue of the pens, but deals

         10  with issues on restrictions and access to events,

         11  the pens, the use of the mounted unit, and the

         12  searching without any individualized suspicion of

         13  people trying to go to demonstrations.

         14                 We have concluded the evidentiary

         15  portion of that, closing arguments, as I said, are

         16  scheduled for tomorrow morning, and we expect to

         17  have a decision some time in the next few weeks from

         18  the federal judge who is hearing the case.

         19                 The whole purpose of the schedule in

         20  this case is to make sure these issues are decided

         21  well in advance of the convention demonstrations so

         22  that protest groups and the Police Department are

         23  fully aware of what the ground rules are going in,

         24  and we hope that the judge will rule in a way that

         25  will assure that people can get to demonstrations,
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          2  can enjoy demonstrations, and will not be physically

          3  jeopardized when they're at demonstrations.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The present

          5  status of the permit is such that it is quite

          6  delayed. And I just want to be clear that you feel,

          7  whether or not you feel that this delay has a

          8  potential of making these demonstrations more

          9  problematic, for those who are organizing them, for

         10  the Committee, for the police, et al, you know, what

         11  is your feeling about the impact of this delay, in

         12  terms of the successful, peaceful, demonstrations

         13  that are intended to be planned?

         14                 MS. LIEBERMAN: Well, of course, the

         15  long lead time that there is to plan a demonstration

         16  with a full set of information, the easier it is to

         17  ensure that everybody knows where they can go, where

         18  they can assemble, and it makes it much more likely

         19  that the demonstration will be peaceful.

         20                 I want to point out that with regard

         21  to the February 15th demonstrations, the police, the

         22  City delayed for several weeks telling us that they

         23  were going to grant a permit, we were going to

         24  negotiate something, we'll come up with something

         25  you like, don't worry, and low and behold, they deny
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          2  the permit for the march, and we were in court.

          3                 And one of the arguments used by the

          4  City in opposing the lawsuit in court was there

          5  wasn't enough time to make plans so that they could

          6  accommodate a march, and do all the safety and

          7  security things that needed to be done.

          8                 Well, we're rapidly approaching the

          9  point where it's going to be too close for the

         10  Police Department to make all its plans for the

         11  Republican Convention. So, we are concerned that the

         12  delay will undermine people's ability to do what has

         13  to be done, but more importantly, we're concerned

         14  that the Police Department may invoke the time

         15  concerns again this time around.

         16                 Hopefully the record is very, very

         17  clear, obviously, that the organizers have been

         18  trying for months to get the permit and that they

         19  are fully prepared to do what's necessary to ensure

         20  that from their end the demonstrations are peaceful

         21  and orderly.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, permits

         23  delayed are permits denied.

         24                 MS. LIEBERMAN: We hope not, but

         25  right.
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          2                 MR. DUNN: And the other concern, and,

          3  Peter, I'm going to direct this to you again also --

          4                 MS. LIEBERMAN: What's going on here?

          5                 MR. DUNN: Well, he's got to pay

          6  attention to the other side.

          7                 But it creates, the delays have

          8  created, whether justified or not, create a climate

          9  of suspicion about what the Police Department is up

         10  to, and, you know, it's been a real problem.

         11                 I mean, by virtue of the Internet

         12  now, nothing else, there are a million rumors

         13  floating around about all these nefarious things the

         14  Police Department is up to, because of their delays

         15  in responding to permit applications. And, you know,

         16  even if this were a situation where they're actually

         17  acting on the best of faith and they had a clear

         18  plan and they're going to give everyone permits, by

         19  virtue of not telling people what the schedule is

         20  going to be, and by not moving on these permit

         21  applications, they have just created widespread

         22  suspicion about thwarting protest activity, and

         23  totally independent of the impact that has on

         24  organizing that has a huge and unfortunate impact it

         25  has on the dynamic and the perceptions about the
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          2  City and the Police Department.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm sorry, I

          4  don't have any more information on this other than

          5  what I've read, so I'm asking for some

          6  clarification.

          7                 The Police Department, Ray Kelly is

          8  on record as saying that delay is the fault of one

          9  of the groups that did not show up at a meeting a

         10  few weeks ago. That group called Ray Kelly a liar. I

         11  don't know Ray Kelly to be a liar, so I'm just

         12  asking for you to shed some information, to shed

         13  some light on that situation.

         14                 MR. DUNN: Well, what he's referring

         15  to is, we've had several meetings with the Police

         16  Department about that particular event. We last

         17  Friday called him and said we want to postpone the

         18  next meeting for two weeks. That's for a group that

         19  had a permit application pending since last June.

         20  Postponing one meeting for one group of that hardly

         21  explains why here we are on June 15th with not a

         22  single permit application granted for a single

         23  group, many of which who are our clients, had had

         24  permit applications pending since the last year.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You're
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          2  absolutely right about what you said, but it also

          3  does not mean that Ray Kelly lied when he said that

          4  that group postponed that meeting, which is what

          5  that group called him, a liar, on the record.

          6                 MR. DUNN: I don't know who said what

          7  about that, Mr. Vallone. But I could tell you that

          8  what the facts are is there's nothing about the

          9  postponement of one meeting for one event that in

         10  any way explains why here we are, where we are, with

         11  no permits granted.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 MS. LIEBERMAN: And I would add that

         15  it does nothing to enhance the climate of

         16  cooperation and negotiation for the City to have

         17  gone out on record, for the Mayor to say all you

         18  need is a permit, just apply for one, when in fact

         19  the permits have been pending for a year, and it

         20  does nothing to enhance the spirit of negotiation

         21  and cooperation, for the Police Department to accuse

         22  the organizers of the demonstration, the applicants

         23  for permit of cutting off negotiations as they did.

         24                 They know, and they knew what the

         25  situation was, there has been a request for a
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          2  meeting with the Mayor. The Mayor has not yet

          3  responded, we hope that he will. The Parks

          4  Department issue has not yet been played out, and

          5  because the City has refused to meet together with

          6  the Parks Department and the Police Department in

          7  one room so that all the issues can be flushed out

          8  in one sitting, they're sending people from one

          9  agency to the other and playing one off against the

         10  other.

         11                 So, we are calling on the City to

         12  turn down the heat and to turn to the table in a

         13  constructive fashion. And also on the Police

         14  Department, on the Parks Department, to encourage

         15  the Mayor to meet with the people who have asked to

         16  meet with them.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: It also does

         18  nothing to enhance the negotiating atmosphere to

         19  falsely accuse our Police Commissioner of lying,

         20  correct?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         22  much for your testimony. I appreciate your time and

         23  your intelligence and your vigilance with respect to

         24  the civil liberties of New Yorkers.

         25                 We'll hear from our next panel.
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          2                 MR. TOLLIN: Representatives from

          3  United Peace and Justice, Leslie Cagan, if present

          4  Steve Ault, Bill Dobbs.

          5                 If anybody is present from Code Pink.

          6  And everybody in the audience should be filling out,

          7  if they do intend to testify, they should fill out a

          8  slip.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: If there are

         10  individuals here who wish to testify, you have to

         11  see the Sergeant-At-Arms and fill out a witness

         12  slip. So, if you haven't done so, please do so.

         13                 Give us a few minutes. We're looking

         14  to see about perhaps switching to the Chambers. We

         15  may be better able to accommodate more people.

         16                 MR. TOLLIN: Please raise your right

         17  hands.

         18                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         19  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         20  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         21                 MS. CAGAN: I do.

         22                 MR. AULT: I do.

         23                 MS. CRACORIAN: I do.

         24                 MR. TOLLIN: Okay. Before testifying,

         25  give your name and the organization you're
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          2  affiliated with.

          3                 MS. CAGAN: Hi. My name is Leslie,

          4  L-e-s-l-i-e, Cagan, C-a-g-a-n, and I'm the National

          5  Coordinator for United Peace and Justice, a group

          6  that you've just heard referenced several times in

          7  the last panel.

          8                 I also should just, for the record,

          9  say that I also was a coordinator of the 1982

         10  Nuclear Disarmament March and Rally that was, the

         11  rally part of it was held on the great lawns in the

         12  park.

         13                 I want to just say a few quick

         14  opening words, and then be open for any questions

         15  that you might have.

         16                 I did have a written testimony

         17  prepared but ran out of ink on my printer this

         18  morning, so I was not able to bring it. I will get

         19  that to the City Council members, so...

         20                 First I want to thank Council Member

         21  Perkins and the other members of the City Council

         22  who are here today who have taken the initiative on

         23  Resolution 389-A.

         24                 We believe, that is United Peace and

         25  Justice believes, this is a very important and
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          2  positive first step in expressing and hoping,

          3  beginning a process of resolving some very, very

          4  large issues, not only about protest activities

          5  around and during the period of the public

          6  exemption, but more in a larger way or in protest

          7  activities in general here in New York City.

          8                 United for Peace and Justice

          9  submitted our permit request, applications for

         10  permits, on June 4th, 2003. That is more than a year

         11  ago. We applied both to the Police Department at One

         12  Police Plaza, we submitted an application for a

         13  march, and we applied to the Parks Department for a

         14  rally on the great lawn.

         15                 As we heard in previous testimony, no

         16  permits have been issued, we have now been issued

         17  permits, and to the best of my knowledge, nobody,

         18  none of the organizers for any of the activities

         19  around the Republican Convention have been issued

         20  permits.

         21                 We are further alarmed that aside

         22  from us, that is we began having some negotiations

         23  with the City, specifically with the Police in late

         24  January, but aside of that series of conversations

         25  and negotiations with the police, up until last
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          2  week, none of the other groups had even been called

          3  in for a meeting to begin that process, to begin

          4  that discussion.

          5                 We were particularly alarmed, we are

          6  particularly alarmed by how the Parks Department has

          7  handled our request for a rally for people,

          8  permanent rally on the great lawn.

          9                 We had one meeting with the Parks

         10  Department in mid-April that lasted about 45 or 50

         11  minutes. I should take note here, too, that in our

         12  previous meetings with the police, we had

         13  specifically asked them to offer an invitation to

         14  ask that the Parks Department to also participate in

         15  these discussions.

         16                 We don't know what happened. We don't

         17  know if the police extended that invitation, or not,

         18  we don't know if the Parks Department got the

         19  invitation and decided not to come to the meetings.

         20  We were never told what happened. But at least three

         21  times we asked the Police to bring the Parks

         22  Department to the meetings as well. We finally

         23  decided that we needed to meet, you know,

         24  separately, independently with the Parks Department.

         25  We had one meeting. It was a very initial kind
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          2  discussion, and we had hoped that it was an initial

          3  discussion. We had hoped there would be further

          4  discussion. When the representatives of the Parks

          5  Department said that they needed to have

          6  conversations with their hands on people with their

          7  operations people, we said that made sense and we

          8  offered to meet with them to go over any of the

          9  questions, any other details on how this worked.

         10                 We never were taken up on that

         11  suggestion. Instead, we were informed in writing

         12  that our request was denied, we appealed through the

         13  internal process of the Parks Department and again

         14  were denied.

         15                 The door to any further discussion

         16  with the Parks Department has closed by the Parks

         17  Department on us. And that was why we have gone to

         18  the Mayor.

         19                 The Parks Department refuses to talk

         20  to us, where else do we go? The Mayor is the guy in

         21  charge, that's why over two weeks ago we put in

         22  writing a request to the Mayor for a meeting to talk

         23  about this. We still have not had any answers to

         24  that request.

         25                 We are fully prepared and have been
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          2  engaged in good faith negotiations with the police.

          3                 It is true, there has been a great

          4  deal of confusion about this, though, over this last

          5  week. It is true that we're scheduled to have what

          6  would have been our fifth meeting with the police on

          7  last Friday on June 11th.

          8                 We asked one of our lawyers to call

          9  the police that morning, and to find a new date to

         10  reschedule that meeting. This is something that we

         11  all engage in every day of our lives, rescheduling

         12  meetings. The response that we got and that the City

         13  of New York got was the Police Commissioner issuing

         14  a letter to us via the mass media, complaining that

         15  we were scuttling negotiations, that we weren't

         16  taking the process seriously, that we refused to

         17  come to the table. From our point of view, to be

         18  quite honest, he did go a little ballistic.

         19                 I may be the person who you were

         20  referring to, Council Member Vallone, when you said

         21  somebody called in a liar. I did not call him a

         22  liar. I did say he seems to be giving out wrong

         23  information. Either he doesn't know the right

         24  information, which might be the case, I don't know,

         25  since we haven't had a direct conversation with him,
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          2  or he might not be telling the truth.

          3                 I don't know which is which, that's

          4  why I did not call him a liar. But there is

          5  misinformation being spread both by the Mayor and by

          6  the Police Commissioner, and we are alarmed by this,

          7  that a top level leadership in this City would

          8  engage in that kind of tactic.

          9                 It is time, we believe to issue the

         10  permits, but beyond that it is also time to take a,

         11  we think, a real deep look at policing and the

         12  attitude of the Police Department, when it comes to

         13  public protest. It is not just a question of whether

         14  or not a group gets permits. It's a question of what

         15  permit they get, and then what happens at the

         16  demonstration itself.

         17                 Our experience in the last several

         18  years especially, is that the police over and over

         19  again are over-policing, and by that we mean they

         20  pull out many, many more police officers than one

         21  might think would be appropriate for a peaceful

         22  permitted demonstration. They set up many

         23  barricades, metal and wooden barricades, and often

         24  making it very hard to access where the assembly

         25  point is or the rally is, let alone making it
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          2  difficult to leave that area.

          3                 They often come in full riot gear.

          4  They come with horses, they come with motorcycles.

          5  They are over-policing, peaceful, permitted legal

          6  demonstrations.

          7                 We are concerned about an attitude

          8  that we experienced from the Police Department that

          9  seems to boil down to this; that is, it seems as if,

         10  and I can't prove this, it's only based on my own

         11  interface with the Police Department, it seems as if

         12  they now have an attitude that the rights that we

         13  have, the rights that the citizens of this country

         14  have, is the right to apply for a permit, as opposed

         15  to the right to demonstrate, and I'm not playing

         16  with words here. This translates very, very

         17  seriously in how the police respond to our permanent

         18  request and how they handle demonstrations. They

         19  seem to have an attitude that every single thing

         20  that goes on in the streets of New York should be

         21  under their control, and we beg to differ.

         22                 We do believe that the Police

         23  Department and other city agencies have a very

         24  critical role to play in helping to ensure the

         25  public safety and security.

                                                            43

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 As New Yorkers, we appreciate the

          3  hard work that most of the Police Department engage

          4  in every single day. But there has to be a limit

          5  placed on the Police Department and this particular

          6  instance, in terms of how they handle permitting

          7  requests and how they handle policing adds to public

          8  events.

          9                 Finally, let me just wrap this up. As

         10  I said, we are very happy that members of the City

         11  Council understand how serious this issue is and

         12  have put forth this resolution. We hope it will pass

         13  not only in the Committee but in the full City

         14  Council.

         15                 But we must take note that it is a

         16  sad day in the City of New York that we even have to

         17  have a conversation like this. The issuing of

         18  permits for marches and rallies as a legitimate form

         19  of constitutionally protected free speech, should

         20  not have to be discussed by the City Council as to

         21  whether or not there are any problems in the issuing

         22  of such permits.

         23                 So, while we are glad to be here

         24  today, it's unfortunate that the other business that

         25  you all have to attend doing, that we all have to
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          2  attend doing, is being put on the back burner while

          3  we try and figure out what's wrong, what's happening

          4  here in the City, why there's such problems with the

          5  permitting and the policing of demonstrations.

          6                 We would hope that this can be

          7  resolved smoothly and quickly for everybody, the

          8  City of New York and all the various agencies

          9  involved, as well as we, the organizers of these

         10  demonstrations, can move into the details of

         11  planning for an extremely powerful and successful

         12  set of protest activities during the time that the

         13  Republican Convention meets here.

         14                 And, finally, let me just note that

         15  this is a Republican Convention coming to town

         16  during the period of a Republican Administration,

         17  the Republican President, the Republican Attorney

         18  General, coming to town that happens to have a

         19  Republican Mayor. We can't help but wonder what else

         20  is going on here? Is there some other agenda about

         21  everyone's right to protest that is tucked into the

         22  fact that it's a Republican Convention, and people

         23  want to protest the policies of the Republican

         24  Administration.

         25                 We do need to put that on the table
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          2  as we consider how to move past this impasse and get

          3  these permits granted.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Will the next

          6  witness please introduce yourself.

          7                 MS. CRACORIAN: My name is Nancy

          8  Cracorian (phonetic). And I'm a member of Code Pink,

          9  Women for Peace, and I'm also a constituent of Bill

         10  Perkins. I'm in your neighborhood.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You should have

         12  spoken first.

         13                 MS. CRACORIAN: I'm here to tell just

         14  the sort of brief narrative of what happened with

         15  our permit application.

         16                 I filed an on-line application to the

         17  Parks Department to hold the Women's Peace Rally in

         18  Riverside Park at 72nd Street at the Eleanor

         19  Roosevelt Statue for the morning of April -- I mean

         20  for the morning of August 29th that would then turn

         21  -- that we would all move from there to the UFPJ

         22  march and rally that afternoon. And I filed it

         23  on-line in mid-April, and then I called a week later

         24  to follow up and I sent an e-mail to follow up to

         25  the Parks Department and heard back on May 5th from
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          2  Chabriel Knorr, who is the manager of Riverside

          3  Park, who had some questions for me. He just wanted

          4  to know a few more details, about did we want a

          5  sound system, how many people were we expecting, if

          6  we were going to be handing out flyers. I answered

          7  all his questions and he said that he was granting

          8  the permit.

          9                 Chabriel Knorr, the manager of

         10  Riverside Park. He's the one who is in charge of

         11  granting the permits for Riverside Park.

         12                 So, I knew that the next step was I

         13  needed to get the permit from him, I needed to have

         14  the paper in hand so that I could then apply for a

         15  sound permit from the Police Precinct.

         16                 I didn't get anything in the mail for

         17  a week, I waited ten days and I called them again

         18  and left a message. He called me back and left a

         19  message saying that the permit was in the pipeline,

         20  there was just a slight delay because there was a

         21  backlog, but I would be getting it in the mail

         22  within the week.

         23                 I didn't get anything in a week. I

         24  called again in a week and he said don't worry, it's

         25  coming, it's coming.
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          2                 I called again on June 8th and left a

          3  message and got a return message from him saying

          4  that he had been told by the Parks Commissioner that

          5  the City was not granting any permits for the parks

          6  during the Republican National Convention, and they

          7  were holding them all now because they needed to

          8  closely scrutinize them, and if I wanted to change

          9  the date of a rally, that he could speed up the

         10  process. And he said he understood that I probably

         11  didn't want to change the date so that I was just

         12  going to have to wait.

         13                 So, he was actually very helpful

         14  through the whole thing, and I got the impression

         15  that he had decided to give me the permit, and then

         16  was told that, no, he was not allowed to do that.

         17                 So, that's it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, before I

         19  go to you, let me just by way of identification. You

         20  gave the name of the organization. Would you give a

         21  brief description of your organization.

         22                 MS. CRACORIAN: Right. Code Pink,

         23  Women for Peace is a women-initiated grassroots

         24  movement that started -- in the lead up to the war

         25  we started a peace vigil outside the White House,
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          2  where women were sleeping out in front of the White

          3  House for months until the war and then on

          4  International Women's Day on March 8th there was a

          5  -- we encircled the White House, and we've been

          6  doing, we also have Code Pink groups in different

          7  cities around the country, and I'm from Code Pink

          8  New York. There's Code Pink National, Code Pink DC,

          9  Code Pink San Francisco, and so on.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I vaguely recall

         11  that effort at the White House. There was some

         12  notable women involved at that, as I recall.

         13                 MS. CRACORIAN: Yes. And March 8th,

         14  International Women's Day, Maxine Hahn Kingston,

         15  Alex Walker, and Madea Benjamin, who was hosting,

         16  were all arrested. And Amy Goodman was sort of

         17  arrested when she was covering it. She was hauled

         18  off, too.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Right. Thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 Yes, sir.

         22                 MR. AULT: Steve Ault, United for

         23  Peace and Justice.

         24                 It is well known that our application

         25  just had a demonstration of 250,000 people and the
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          2  great lawn has been denied. The reason given, that

          3  it would ruin the grass.

          4                 Yet, Mayor Giuliani, upon the

          5  reopening of the great lawn, when it was renovated,

          6  issued a press release. It was very interesting to

          7  see what the Mayor said.

          8                 The Mayor cited the task great events

          9  that have occurred on the great lawn. He cited the

         10  Paul Simon concert, estimated numbers for that that

         11  were over a million. He also cited some other huge

         12  events. He the Mayor's mind, that was the legacy of

         13  the great lawn. That is what it's known for. That is

         14  what happened.

         15                 The question is, in reopening this

         16  grand place, would the Mayor have mentioned this

         17  legacy if the implication was, well, this is a

         18  matter of history, this is past, this is not going

         19  to happen again. Is this the implication? Or is the

         20  implication rather that we have fixed the place up

         21  so that this wonderful legacy continue and be

         22  furthered.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 I want to first take a moment to
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          2  acknowledge someone who has been very involved, the

          3  portfolio, if you will, of involvement with these

          4  types of civil rights, civil liberties issues, and

          5  with respect to this Council, in fact he and I have

          6  worked together quite a bit on some -- he's not a

          7  member of this Committee, but nevertheless he has

          8  joined us and he is a sponsor of the resolution, as

          9  well as other bills related to this, and that's

         10  Council Member David Yassky. And you had something

         11  you wanted to say? This is the appropriate time.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

         13  Chairpersons.

         14                 I just wanted to thank you and

         15  commend you for your leadership. It's true, it's

         16  kind of sometimes standard just to say thanks for

         17  your leadership, but this is a very important topic.

         18  I had a flashback sitting here. One of my earliest

         19  memories is, as a child, my parents took me from New

         20  York down to Washington for the Peace March in

         21  Washington in 1968. And my parents were not at all

         22  political people, and they, I think until I got

         23  involved in politics they never read the -- they

         24  didn't pay any attention. But that issue galvanized

         25  them, as it did so many others. And the reason I
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          2  bring it up is, throughout certainly my district,

          3  and I am confident throughout the City, there are

          4  people who do not come to Council hearings and do

          5  not get involved in the ordinary process, but who

          6  feel very deeply about the issue of warranties

          7  confronting this country today. And they want their

          8  voice to be heard.

          9                 The great thing about American

         10  democracy is that we have always provided a way for

         11  people's voices to be heard. And it's not just on

         12  election day at the ballot box. That's what the

         13  First Amendment is all about, it's about the right

         14  of the people to peacefully assemble and petition

         15  their government, and to speak freely.

         16                 And in New York Central Park has been

         17  the historic meeting place for events like that. It

         18  has significance and a resonance and it is the

         19  appropriate place for a protest. And I guess I do

         20  think that any refusal to allow such a protest is a

         21  denial on free speech.

         22                 And I just have one question. Did you

         23  ever receive a written denial of permit with an

         24  explanation and a statement of reason?

         25                 MS. CAGAN: Yes, we did. We got a
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          2  letter in mid-April, late-April, I forget the exact

          3  date, saying they were denying it because the great

          4  lawn can only hold 80,000 people, and anything more

          5  than that would cause damage to the lawn.

          6                 And then basically when we appealed

          7  within the process of the Parks Department, which

          8  was basically that we wrote another letter to them

          9  and they wrote another letter back to us, they said

         10  the same thing again. They had somehow fixated on

         11  this number of 80,000.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And that

         13  letter was from the Parks Department or the Police

         14  Department?

         15                 MS. CAGAN: Parks.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: One issue, Mr.

         17  Chair, that I just refer to you is who exactly it is

         18  up to to issue protesting and rally permits, whether

         19  it's the Police Department or whether it's -- I

         20  mean, obviously there is a Parks Department, and I

         21  guess they get involved and they should have a say,

         22  but I think that there should be one decision-maker

         23  here who can be held essentially responsible for

         24  permits and rallies.

         25                 It's one issue I refer to you, Mr.
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          2  Chair. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          4  much for that concern. That is a concern that we

          5  have, in terms of who is responsible for giving

          6  permits. In your case did you receive a written

          7  explanation?

          8                 MS. CRACORIAN: Well, my permit hasn't

          9  been denied, it's delayed. He said that all permits

         10  in the park are being held and closely scrutinized.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Who is he?

         12                 MS. CRACORIAN: Mr. Chabriel Knorr,

         13  the Riverside Park Manager, who had originally told

         14  me he was granting me the permit for Riverside Park.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Did you get it

         16  in writing?

         17                 MS. CRACORIAN: Nothing in writing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And you received

         19  your delay --

         20                 MS. CRACORIAN: He called me on June

         21  8th.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And you had

         23  originally received your go ahead when?

         24                 MS. CRACORIAN: May 5th.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. So, within
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          2  a month. Okay.

          3                 Councilwoman Christine Quinn.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Leslie, I know

          5  you went through this, but I just want to try to

          6  clear my head.

          7                 The letter you got back from Parks,

          8  that was how long after you had first requested? And

          9  I assume you made your request to the Police and the

         10  Parks Department.

         11                 MS. CAGAN: Yes, June 4th, 2003.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: 2003.

         13                 MS. CAGAN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So, not a couple

         15  of weeks ago. Like a year and a couple of weeks ago.

         16                 MS. CAGAN: No, no. Like a year and a

         17  couple of weeks ago we put in two permit requests.

         18  One was the Parks Department for the great lawn, and

         19  the other was the Police Department for a march that

         20  would begin in Chelsea, marching up Eighth Avenue,

         21  which turns into Central Park West, and then turn

         22  into the park at the great lawn to the rally there.

         23                 Because as we understand it, the

         24  decision that use of street is made by the police

         25  and use of the parks is made by the Parks
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          2  Department, we have to submit two permit

          3  applications.

          4                 We had our first and only meeting

          5  with the Parks Department on April 19th, an then one

          6  week later they sent us a letter denying the permit.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: April 19th of

          8  2004.

          9                 MS. CAGAN: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And then you

         11  didn't get a letter until 2004, so ten or so months

         12  later.

         13                 MS. CAGAN: Right. We had no contact

         14  with the Parks Department until April.

         15                 We has asked the police, when we met

         16  with them in January, we knew and they knew that our

         17  proposal was for March and then a rally in the park.

         18  We asked the police to please bring the Parks

         19  Department to the meetings so we could all sit at

         20  the table together. And we don't know what happened.

         21  We don't know if the police never invited the Parks,

         22  or the Parks Department said, no, we don't want to

         23  come. We don't know.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

         25  add, in addition to what Council Member Yassky said
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          2  about the importance of the park for this rally in

          3  particular and this event in particular, I just want

          4  to kind of put on the record that I think there

          5  needs to be an essential, almost important moment,

          6  issue at the moment is the issue of people being

          7  allowed to express their opinions pro or con against

          8  the Republican Convention, et cetera, et cetera.

          9                 Though I just want to say, as it

         10  relates to Central Park, there has actually been a

         11  history recently of groups being denied or very much

         12  delayed their use of the park. Some of those have

         13  been political groups, such as the one we're talking

         14  about, but also Walk-a-Thons, fund-raising events,

         15  events that have been long-established, so for

         16  decades in the City, have now had to meet, re-meet,

         17  beg, cajole, get elected officials involved, to

         18  call, et cetera, et cetera, to be allowed to use the

         19  great lawn, even when they're willing to post a

         20  bond. You know, that part of it, if there is damage,

         21  even though the groups in question did not have a

         22  history of ever having caused some essential damage.

         23                 So, I think, you know, you have

         24  groups that have demonstrated good faith, good

         25  history, they're willing to put up a bond, et
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          2  cetera, and they're not allowed to use the park

          3  either, and at some point we need to, I think, have

          4  an airing out of what is the balance of the

          5  preservation of grass against the City's need to use

          6  our scarce public park for a host of different, you

          7  know, events. I'm not trying to dismiss the

          8  political as being the most important --

          9                 MS. CAGAN: I understand.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But I think in

         11  some ways this is the tip of the iceberg as it

         12  relates to how, you know, we need to resolve this

         13  first, but the other parts that your efforts are

         14  important as it relates to I think focusing the

         15  Council on the larger issues of public uses of

         16  public spaces.

         17                 I just have a question. You know, one

         18  of the things that we certainly have heard in this

         19  discussion as it is, is, you know, the park will be

         20  damaged, and people have said in response to that,

         21  well, maybe the group should be required to post a

         22  bond or something of that nature, if there is

         23  damage. Can you respond to whether you think that's

         24  fair; would you be willing to do that; is there a

         25  history of doing that from when you had the march, I
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          2  think it was a little over 80,000 in '82.

          3                 MS. CAGAN: Yes, a little over,

          4  several hundred thousand over.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What's your

          6  position on that?

          7                 MS. CAGAN: We had hoped, and we were

          8  fully prepared to have a set of conversations with

          9  the Parks Department about a bond, about clean-up --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: There's no

         11  objection to that?

         12                 MS. CAGAN: No. Obviously we had hoped

         13  that the Parks Department would not impose a bond

         14  that was so outrageously big --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         16                 MS. CAGAN: -- That we couldn't afford

         17  it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         19                 MS. CAGAN: But in the past when we

         20  have used parks or other groups have used parks, the

         21  Parks Department have asked for a bond.

         22                 So, we expected to have that

         23  conversation. That's part of the plan process.

         24                 I think the point you raise is

         25  really, really critical, that we are a large city
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          2  with few large open spaces, especially in Manhattan.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

          4                 MS. CAGAN: On a hot summer day, it

          5  may very well be on August 29th, what makes more

          6  sense? Keeping people out of the streets of New

          7  York, or having a march then conclude by bringing

          8  people into the park, everybody can get some relief.

          9                 We believe bringing people into the

         10  park makes a lot more sense for a lot more reasons.

         11                 If there's another park in Midtown,

         12  or some place close to where Madison Square Garden

         13  is located, then we would be open to that. You know,

         14  when the City put on the table, well, what about

         15  Flushing Meadow Park out in Queens, we said that's a

         16  great park, that's a great big open space, we love

         17  Flushing Meadow Park, and if the Republican party

         18  chooses to move its convention out there, then we'll

         19  have our demonstration out there.

         20                 But there's a reason why we want to

         21  be in Manhattan, and there are not a lot of open

         22  spaces. The great lawn in Central Park is one of

         23  those spaces, and that's precisely why it has been

         24  used over the years, and should be used in the

         25  coming years. That's why we are taking it so
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          2  seriously. Not only about what we want to do and

          3  what we think is best for August 29th, it's about

          4  everyone's right in New York to organize activities

          5  in a peaceful, organized way on the great lawn in

          6  Central Park.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just want to

          8  say two things. I'm not walking from Chelsea to

          9  Flushing Meadows. That's way too long a march. I'm

         10  committed, but we all have our limitations.

         11                 I just think it's important to

         12  underscore and emphasize the fact that you, and I'm

         13  sure other organizers are willing to put up a bond,

         14  that people recognize that they're going to urge,

         15  you know, do everything in their power for the lawn,

         16  et cetera, not to be damaged, but some things can

         17  happen beyond one's control. And that the organizers

         18  are willing to do their part.

         19                 MS. CAGAN: Absolutely.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That no one is

         21  asking for a free pass here, so-to-speak, that you

         22  recognize that, that you're willing to do that. I

         23  just think that's very important for the record,

         24  because it shows that you're actually acting in good

         25  faith, and willing to really participate in a full
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          2  way in this process.

          3                 So, thank you very much.

          4                 MS. CAGAN: It should be noted also

          5  that in 1982, which we know is a long time ago, but

          6  sometimes history sheds light on things.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

          8                 MS. CAGAN: In 1982, Gordon Davis was

          9  then the Parks Commissioner, and we organized an

         10  event on the occasion of the UN special session on

         11  nuclear disarmament. And it turned out to be quite

         12  large. Our estimate was upwards of a million people.

         13  And our initial proposal was to assemble by the UN,

         14  and then march over to the park and end up with a

         15  rally on the great lawn. And the Parks Department

         16  and the Commissioner said no, no, no, there's going

         17  to be damage, there's going to be damage, you can't,

         18  you can't come into the park.

         19                 So, we turned around our plans and

         20  reformulated everything, and decided we would have a

         21  rally over by the UN.

         22                 The Police Department at that point

         23  said no, no, no, no, no. That can't work. We can't

         24  have that number of people on busy streets for the

         25  whole day. Let's have it end up in the park. And we
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          2  don't know if it was the Mayor or the Police

          3  Commissioner, somebody, turned that decision around

          4  and we ended up having the rally on the great lawn.

          5  The day after, and the next few days after that

          6  demonstration, the Parks Commissioner, and it's

          7  quoted in the New York Times, said quite publicly,

          8  that had he known things were going to go so

          9  smoothly, he never would have objected, and that we

         10  left the park in better condition then before we

         11  went into it.

         12                 We had massive clean-up plans. You

         13  know, we love the park.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         15                 MS. CAGAN: We want the park to be

         16  healthy and strong and a resource for all New

         17  Yorkers. We didn't want to destroy the park. We will

         18  do everything we can to protect that park. But one

         19  of the reasons why we want to protect that park is

         20  so people can organize large events on it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, Mr. Ault.

         23                 MR. AULT: Yes, thank you.

         24                 The great lawn, as we have heard, has

         25  accommodated well over 250,000 people in the past,
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          2  perhaps over double that, and it could do it again.

          3                 In contrast, to use the mathematics

          4  of having a rally on the very narrow streets of New

          5  York, it's how they're configured. We don't have

          6  grand boulevards the way they do in some other

          7  cities. But if you do the mathematics, 250,000

          8  people on an avenue which stretched 50 blocks, two

          9  and a half miles, it's very difficult to have a

         10  rally under those conditions. It's very difficult to

         11  practice the right of assembly under those

         12  conditions, to have a coherent assembly, and it's

         13  extremely difficult to practice the right of speech

         14  under those conditions. Now, what kind of sound

         15  system can project two and a half miles. On the

         16  great lawn it can be done; it has been done.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to

         18  acknowledge the attendance of Council Member Philip

         19  Reed, the Chairman of our Consumer Affairs Committee

         20  has joined us.

         21                 I believe Council Member Vallone has

         22  a question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Has it been

         24  done since the restoration of the park?

         25                 MR. AULT: I really don't know.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Let me

          3  apologize first, because, as Chairman Perkins knows,

          4  yesterday was perhaps the biggest Committee hearing

          5  of Public Safety that we've had in my tenure

          6  regarding the new emergency protocols. Normally I

          7  have my facts before I come to a hearing, and in

          8  fact this hearing -- I do support your right to have

          9  this rally, I know it's hard to believe, within the

         10  context of public safety, and this hearing wouldn't

         11  happen without consent, because this is something

         12  that properly belongs in the Public Safety

         13  Committee. But when Chair Perkins came to me, and

         14  David Yassky, to have this, I explained to them that

         15  yesterday we had a hearing that had been planned for

         16  years and my staff wouldn't be able to do it, they

         17  even asked me to take their proposal into this

         18  Committee, which is rarely, if ever, done. And

         19  because of the leadership of Bill Perkins and David

         20  Yassky I consented to that and that's why we're here

         21  today.

         22                 But I really am trying to get my arms

         23  around this, because I haven't been able to prepare.

         24                 Has it been done since the

         25  restoration? Has there been a rally of 250,000
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          2  people or any sort of rally?

          3                 MR. AULT: No, there hasn't. They

          4  haven't allowed it.

          5                 MS. CAGAN: There have been large

          6  cultural events and religious events. I don't think

          7  of that size, but there are large ones.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Now, perhaps

          9  I should have asked this question to Donna and

         10  Chris, but are you aware of how many permits are

         11  pending right now to protest joining the Republican

         12  Convention?

         13                 MS. CAGAN: I'm sorry?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Are you aware

         15  of anyone, of the amount of permits that are pending

         16  with the City to protest?

         17                 MS. CAGAN: We understand 20.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And that's in

         19  addition to the two that are at this table right

         20  now?

         21                 MS. CAGAN: Counting us.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.

         23                 Now, let me understand what's going

         24  on in this process. You said you were denied by

         25  Parks and you went through the appeal process
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          2  already?

          3                 MS. CAGAN: Yes, within the Parks

          4  Department. Which was, if I might just take a note

          5  of that, the appeal process was that we had to write

          6  a letter to the Council, Mr. Oliveri, I think his

          7  name is, and sorry if I got that wrong now, who was

          8  actually the person we have met with. We thought

          9  that was a little strange and we're appealing to the

         10  same person who had made the decisions.

         11                 Nonetheless, we followed the process

         12  as they outlined it to us.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That is an

         14  interesting process.

         15                 I'm going to set that one up in my

         16  office, too.

         17                 Okay, and the denial happened when,

         18  of the appeals process?

         19                 MS. CAGAN: It happened in early

         20  mid-May, I think. I think it was mid-May. I don't

         21  remember the exact date, I'm sorry.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So since that

         23  time, I know you are requesting a meeting with the

         24  Mayor, and from what I read, the Mayor has denied

         25  that.
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          2                 MS. CAGAN: Again, we have not heard a

          3  denial. We have not heard a yes or a no from the

          4  Mayor.

          5                 We have had silence from the Mayor.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I heard on TV

          7  yesterday that that meeting is not going to happen,

          8  that's where I'm going from.

          9                 MS. CAGAN: Right. If he doesn't want

         10  to meet with us, just as common courtesy, he should

         11  have somebody in his office call us and tell us it's

         12  not possible to meet.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I'm not

         14  disagreeing.

         15                 So, at this point now, have you put

         16  in for another location, or has one been recommended

         17  to you by the City?

         18                 MS. CAGAN: The City has made two

         19  recommendations, one was the Flushing Meadow Park,

         20  that was made early on and they have not raised it

         21  again, so I don't think they're pushing that idea.

         22                 The police did put something else on

         23  the table, which was to have us assemble -- without

         24  a map it may be hard to picture this, but to have us

         25  assemble in the West Village over on West Street, to
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          2  march on a route that would take us up Tenth Avenue,

          3  East on 34th Street, north on Eighth Avenue, west on

          4  57th Street, south on 11th Avenue, to end up on West

          5  Street again for a rally.

          6                 We explained to the police very

          7  carefully and in great detail why that doesn't work.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I got lost on

          9  34th Street, so --

         10                 MS. CAGAN: Exactly. Exactly. Exactly.

         11  That's one of the reasons why it doesn't work for

         12  us.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So, what part

         14  of the process are we in now? Are we up to?

         15                 MS. CAGAN: Well, there are two pieces

         16  of it. One is, again, we hope that the Mayor will

         17  meet with us to talk more about the park situation.

         18  We do think that we have a legitimate case to make

         19  and that the Parks Department never heard us out,

         20  didn't give a full hearing to the concerns and the

         21  need of this activity to use the park. So, we are

         22  pursuing a discussion with the Mayor since the Parks

         23  Department has slammed the door in our face.

         24                 At the same time, the negotiations

         25  with the Police Department on the march route are
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          2  still open. We've had four meetings with them. We

          3  are anxious to meet with them again, talk about

          4  march route concerns. We had requested a

          5  rescheduling of the last meeting last Friday,

          6  because we thought that unless you know where you're

          7  going to end up, it's hard to come to some

          8  conclusion about what the march route is going to

          9  be.

         10                 So, given we believe that the

         11  arguments that we have to make about use of the

         12  Central Park are strong, do make sense, having

         13  scouted out many other options in the City, we come

         14  back to the conclusion that the safest, best way to

         15  do this, is in Central Park.

         16                 We suggested to the police that we

         17  reschedule that meeting to see if in the meantime we

         18  might be able to get a meeting with the Mayor. That

         19  was when the Police Commissioner went a little

         20  ballistic.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay, thank

         22  you.

         23                 MS. CAGAN: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         25  Philip Reed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair. I apologize for being -- I hate to use the

          4  word detained. I apologize for being delayed in

          5  coming today.

          6                 I certainly want to make it clear

          7  that I'm supportive of the right of people to

          8  protest, demonstrate, celebrate, in and around and

          9  near where it is, in fact, at the object of the

         10  protest of the celebration is actually occurring,

         11  otherwise it's fruitless and in fact frustrating and

         12  demoralizing to the exercise of freedom of speech.

         13                 So, I think it's disingenuous to

         14  suggest that you could go to some other borough,

         15  because I think if we're saying that people have the

         16  right to protest, I don't think anybody was asked

         17  their opinion, where there wasn't a poll taken if we

         18  wanted the Republicans to come to New York in the

         19  first place. Because if they had taken a poll of New

         20  Yorkers, we wouldn't be in this situation right now.

         21                 But in the openness with which we

         22  like to receive people, irrespective of their

         23  political affiliation, we also demand the right to

         24  tell them how we feel about them once they get here

         25  and we take their tax money.
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          2                 Having said that, in a slightly less

          3  humorous manner, I actually -- people often when I

          4  tell them I represent all of Central Park, all of

          5  Central Park is in my district, and I was concerned,

          6  I remember very early in my tenure in the Council,

          7  when the City signed a ten-year contract with the

          8  Central Park Conservancy, because we began to see

          9  this public but emphasis on the private partnership.

         10                 And while we all applauded the fact

         11  that Central Park, as all the parks, needed a great

         12  deal of repair. Even in that early debate about the

         13  public use of the park and who was in control of it

         14  ultimately, we never got clear answers. And, in

         15  fact, many of us asked to have that contract made a

         16  five-year contract so there could be review.

         17                 I remember this because it really was

         18  like within the first month of my being in the

         19  Council, and just trying to figure out what I was

         20  doing, and then this issue came at us.

         21                 I think that they do a remarkably

         22  good job, but it's ironic that now all of a sudden

         23  the responsibility has clearly shifted to the Parks

         24  Commissioner. He's an admirable enough guy, but I

         25  think when you begin to look at that issue and that
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          2  this is property that is so important that that

          3  trumps the right of people to protest, we have a

          4  real conflict. And certainly I would think that we

          5  ought to be going to court, as I'm sure you all are,

          6  about this.

          7                 I want to support being there. I

          8  don't know, and perhaps you had stated it earlier,

          9  but had the police offered you an alternative site

         10  in Manhattan?

         11                 MS. CAGAN: Yes, I think I did say

         12  that right before you came in. In Manhattan they

         13  would have us have a march route that would end up

         14  on streets, over on West Street south of

         15  Christopher. We really don't think it's in the best

         16  interests of the City, and certainly not in our best

         17  interest as organizers of a demonstration to have

         18  this rally on a hot summer day out on the City

         19  streets. On West Street, in particular, where there

         20  are not tall buildings to provide shade, where

         21  people would literally be out in the sun. I don't

         22  think that makes any sense.

         23                 So, that was the alternative that

         24  they offered to us, and we explained very, very

         25  clearly to the Police Department why that doesn't
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          2  work for us, why we don't think that's a good idea.

          3                 Again, we think it makes sense, and

          4  there is enough history to come to this conclusion,

          5  let alone just one's good common sense, that we

          6  should have a march that leaves people that takes

          7  people into the park for the rally at the end.

          8                 We think that it's the best location

          9  in Manhattan to do it on the great lawn. And we

         10  would like the ability to wrap this up, to come to

         11  some conclusion with this, because we know it's in

         12  our interest and everybody's interest to settle on

         13  this, on what's going to happen on this date,

         14  because once that gets settled, then there are a

         15  whole lot of details that still have to get

         16  negotiated with the police and hopefully with the

         17  Parks Department, and that gets to something else I

         18  was saying earlier, in my opening comments, that we

         19  are concerned, not only whether or not, or the

         20  timeliness or lack of timeliness of the issuing of

         21  permits, not only through our demonstration but

         22  through all the activities, but we're also concerned

         23  with how the police cancel these activities once the

         24  permit has been granted.

         25                 So, for instance, going back to
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          2  February 15th, we wanted to put out port-o-johns, so

          3  people could use port-o-johns during the afternoon

          4  while they were out there. The police said, no, you

          5  can't have port-o-johns. Why? Just because no.

          6                 It took several rounds of

          7  conversation before they offered an explanation, but

          8  this is part of this attitude that they control

          9  everything, even in advance, that's ours that we

         10  have a permit for, that they have the right to set

         11  up the barricades wherever they want, bring in the

         12  horses whenever they want, pull out the riot gear,

         13  use the pepper spray, all of that. So, we're

         14  concerned about the whole package about the

         15  permitting and the policing of our demonstration on

         16  August 29th and everybody else's demonstration, not

         17  only around the Republican Convention, but on into

         18  the future.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Have you

         20  identified what measures you would take to protect

         21  the park? Is that in your testimony?

         22                 MS. CAGAN: No, we wanted to, and

         23  would still like, to have a conversation with the

         24  Parks people about how to do that, how to have the

         25  rally in a way that minimizes any potential damage.
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          2  How do we bring people in? How do they leave? What

          3  kind of clean-up do we do? And what kind of

          4  directions do we give people about what they can do

          5  or can't do.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So you have not

          7  had that conversation?

          8                 MS. CAGAN: The Parks Department

          9  slammed the door in our face. I would like to have

         10  that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Do you have

         12  recommendations to offer?

         13                 MS. CAGAN: Yes, we would definitely

         14  bring to the table recommendations what we would do

         15  and how we would function and how we would set up

         16  clean-up and directing people and the whole

         17  operation, and we would like to talk to them about

         18  what kind of bond would be needed, just in case any

         19  more serious damage is done.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me interject

         21  for a second, because I want to, before we get away

         22  from this point.

         23                 You alluded to a question that I was

         24  going to raise with respect, in the system, yes or

         25  no kind of answer. In anyone's case, has the Central
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          2  Park Conservancy been in any of these discussions

          3  that you've had?

          4                 MS. CAGAN: No.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. All right,

          6  thank you.

          7                 Go ahead.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, well, I

          9  think probably only one other question. But that

         10  would be interesting to know that the Parks

         11  Department now has taken over complete authority for

         12  Central Park, which I think means the Mayor has, in

         13  fact, done that.

         14                 MS. CAGAN: Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But you might

         16  suggest --

         17                 MS. CAGAN: Which is why we want to

         18  meet with the Mayor.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: All right. You

         20  might suggest that when you actually get to the

         21  lawn, you'll have everybody take off their shoes.

         22                 MS. CAGAN: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I mean, telling

         24  them that that's one step we're going to take. I

         25  think if you were to lay out some ideas that there
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          2  are others of us in government that might also be

          3  able to see if the door gets slammed in our face.

          4                 Thank you very much for the work

          5  you're doing and for your testimony.

          6                 MS. CAGAN: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to take a

          8  pause, because one of our members of the Committee

          9  has arrived, Council Member Leroy Comrie, who is our

         10  Majority Whip, and the Chair of our Rules Committee,

         11  but he has to leave, so before he leaves we want him

         12  to take a vote on the resolution.

         13                 So, we have to wait for the

         14  legislative docs guy to come up, but as soon as he

         15  comes up, Council member, we will proceed to a vote

         16  so that you can take care of your other important

         17  business.

         18                 I also want to make a note that

         19  Council Member Nelson, who is a member of this

         20  Committee, is not able to attend due to a funeral

         21  that's taking place.

         22                 Borough President Marty Markowitz'

         23  father-in-law passed away, and, so, they are

         24  funeralizing him and Council Member Nelson is not

         25  going to be able to attend this hearing for that
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          2  reason.

          3                 Are there any other questions of this

          4  particular panel?

          5                 Yes, Council Member Comrie.

          6                 I also want to acknowledge the

          7  presence of Councilwoman Margarita Lopez. Margarita

          8  Lopez, who is also the Chairwoman of our Mental

          9  Health Committee.

         10                 Council Member Comrie.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes, thank

         12  you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 I really just wanted to thank the

         14  panel for being true libertarians, and trying to

         15  articulate the needs of the community.

         16                 As you know, I am a prime sponsor on

         17  this resolution. I clearly believe in the right of

         18  people to have free and unfettered protest, and I

         19  just want to congratulate you for your efforts and

         20  energy and encourage all the people here that are

         21  interested in really participating in democracy with

         22  a small d, to continue your efforts to do so. It's

         23  important, you know, wherever there is an injustice

         24  that it's highlighted.

         25                 I want to congratulate the Chair and
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          2  the Committee for continuing to bring these issues

          3  up here in the City Council. Although we don't have

          4  direct jurisdiction over some of these things, we

          5  would like to, and I just want to congratulate you

          6  for all of your efforts on this endeavor.

          7                 Listening to the statements from

          8  Council Member Reed, and your efforts to try to

          9  really make the necessary accommodations only shows

         10  that, you know, we have to allow you to be heard. We

         11  have to allow your views to be aired, and I hope

         12  that you can articulate all of your reasons that are

         13  here in this median, and hopefully that message will

         14  be sent over to the Administration.

         15                 As far as conservancy, and who owns

         16  our public facilities, that is a discussion that we

         17  have to have on another day. Thank you. And thank

         18  you, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         20                 Councilwoman Margarita Lopez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just was not

         22  able to be here before, and not because this

         23  subject, in my opinion, is the most important

         24  subject we have in the entire City of New York

         25  today, perhaps the nation. It was that I was in
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          2  budget negotiations down there and I couldn't be

          3  here before.

          4                 I only want to ask a question to this

          5  panel.

          6                 It is my understanding that at the

          7  time that the regulations were put in place to

          8  organize demonstrations, protests, rallies, and put

          9  in place a frame in which you do that. The purpose

         10  of that was to conduct business in a civilized way.

         11                 The refusal to approve permits now,

         12  the refusal to allow organizations to manifest

         13  themselves, is in the venue of framing discretion

         14  and the guarantees of the constitution, or is about

         15  this system utilized at this moment to destroy

         16  public discretion, to destroy the First Amendment of

         17  the Constitution. Which one of the two is it?

         18                 MS. CAGAN: It's hard to answer that

         19  question, not being, you know, in the inner circle

         20  of the Police Department or the Parks Department or

         21  the Mayor's Office.

         22                 It's hard to understand what their

         23  thought process is, what is going on here.

         24                 I'm not going to sit here today and

         25  assign bad motives to these folks. I'm not going to
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          2  say that they're out to underline the constitution.

          3                 What I am going to say is that by

          4  delaying the issuance of permits, they care creating

          5  a seriously confused population. And it's not just

          6  us as organizers of the demonstration, but the

          7  people of New York, I think have a right to know

          8  what the plans are while the Republican Convention

          9  is in New York City. They are not telling us.

         10                 You know, I wear two hats here today.

         11  One is as an organizer of a protest, but the other

         12  is as a person who lives and works in New York City.

         13  What are the plans? When is the Mayor, when is the

         14  Police Commissioner going to let everybody know what

         15  areas are open, what aren't, what areas aren't open,

         16  which yours, which days, you know, sort of what the

         17  whole scenario will be.

         18                 And I think they are, by delaying the

         19  sharing of that information, and by delaying the

         20  issuing of permits, before marches and rallies and

         21  other forms of public dissent, they are, in fact,

         22  not only creating chaos, or the potential of chaos

         23  and confusion, but they are beginning to undermine

         24  our, and everybody's constitution, what should be

         25  constitutionally protected right to assemble to free
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          2  speech to make our voices heard.

          3                 I'm not saying that they're sitting

          4  in their offices behind closed doors, trying to

          5  figure out how to conscientiously undermine our

          6  democratic rights, but what happens is that we, on

          7  the receiving end of this, policy or nonpolicy,

          8  begin to feel as if our rights are being undermined,

          9  and that's what we have to get a handle on right now

         10  and stop.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm going to

         12  accept your statement. I only then have to say to

         13  that, that I guess that my analysis perhaps has been

         14  wrong and where I need to go is to understand that

         15  this nation now is run by the judicial. The judicial

         16  determine who is president of the United States, the

         17  judicial determine when we get permits, the judicial

         18  determine how we march, how we speak and how we

         19  don't, and God bless America if we lose the Supreme

         20  Court of United States, because we're going to be in

         21  a lot of trouble. And I think, to me, that we did

         22  already, when the Constitution was not respected in

         23  regard of the will of the election process that

         24  happened in this nation, almost four years ago.

         25                 Thank you. Thank you for being so
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          2  brave, for continuing fighting for this, and do not

          3  quit.

          4                 MS. CAGAN: Thank you. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I might add in

          6  that list of judicial decisions, the Campaign for

          7  Fiscal Equity, in determining that the children of

          8  the City of New York deserve more than they're

          9  getting, and may ultimately have to come back to

         10  that as things seem to be falling apart in Albany at

         11  this point.

         12                 The docs guy has arrived so-to-speak,

         13  and what we'd like to do now is to take a vote on

         14  the resolution before us.

         15                 This is Reso No. 389-A, calling upon

         16  government officials to protect and uphold the First

         17  Amendment Right to freedom of speech, association

         18  and assembly.

         19                 I'd like to recommend to the

         20  Committee members that they join me in support of

         21  voting aye on this resolution.

         22                 Will the roll be called, please?

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I vote aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Again, I vote

          3  aye and I want to congratulate the Chair and all of

          4  the people that are trying to really be democratic

          5  in a society that's trying to change and utilize the

          6  media, and there's a lot I want to say but I need to

          7  go into another meeting. You have my support aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Mr. Chair,

         14  may I be excused to explain my vote?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Based on the

         17  testimony I've heard today, and I appreciate each

         18  panel who has given testimony, and for those who

         19  have shown up today, thank you very much for your

         20  efforts, as well. And I guess due to the way the

         21  resolution was written, and the language that was

         22  used, the word "reasonable" or a variation of the

         23  word "reasonable" was used eight times in this

         24  resolution. I do believe I can vote yes on this

         25  resolution and still reasonably balance the safety
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          2  of those who want to protest and the participants,

          3  as well as City residents, but as well as also

          4  trying to protect City property.

          5                 Just as a point of information, as

          6  former Chair of the Parks Committee, I'll tell you

          7  just as a point of information, with regards to

          8  Central Park lawn, the Parks Department thinks about

          9  that lawn a little differently after the

         10  restoration, and although historically large crowds

         11  have been gathered there in the past, history would

         12  also show that since its restoration, the largest

         13  crowd that has been there has been 80,000, and the

         14  reason they use that number was because that was the

         15  David Matthews Concert, and that's been the largest

         16  crowd since the restorations. I know the Parks

         17  Department thinks differently about the lawn since,

         18  again, the major restoration that was done there,

         19  but I think the issue of posting a bond, and I think

         20  measures to be taken if offered about, again,

         21  renovating or restoring the lawn after the protest

         22  should be explored. I believe the person should not

         23  deny the right to protest obviously, and should be

         24  given an appropriate place, appropriate safe place

         25  to do so.
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          2                 So, again, with that being said, I

          3  think I could vote yes on this.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: May I be

          6  excused to explain, Mr. Chair?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: By all means.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: First, let me

          9  second everything Council Member Addabbo said. In

         10  fact, the 80,000, I believe, for the Dave Matthews

         11  concert caused a couple hundred thousand dollars in

         12  damage, and this crowd has estimated at 250,000. And

         13  I believe you said you organized the 1982 event,

         14  official estimates were 600,000, correct? So there

         15  may well be more than that many people on the park.

         16  And I've also been able to read in the last few

         17  minutes that any damage to this park may very well

         18  result in the closing of the park for nine months

         19  while the grass is regrowing, and that's how long it

         20  took the original grass to grow. So, I second what

         21  Mr. Addabbo said.

         22                 I do believe this is a reasonably

         23  well written resolution. It does seem to take public

         24  safety into account.

         25                 I do have a problem, however, with
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          2  Section H. It says that I guess the City should

          3  refrain from engaging in preliminary inquiry or

          4  investigation of individuals or groups, and I'm

          5  summarizing, based solely on their participation and

          6  activities protected by the First Amendment, such as

          7  political advocacy.

          8                 It seems to me to say if someone used

          9  their First Amendment Right to support a terrorist

         10  attack in the United States, that they should not be

         11  investigated.

         12                 I don't happen to agree with that. If

         13  they were not investigated and attacks should happen

         14  that that person was involved in, everyone in this

         15  room would be the first people landblasting the

         16  police and the FBI and the CIA for not investigating

         17  that person.

         18                 So, again, I agree with much of what

         19  this says. I have a problem with H, and so I will

         20  not vote against it, but I will abstain on this

         21  vote.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There are other

         23  members who are going to be voting on this matter

         24  who are not here right now. And, so, the vote will

         25  remain open for them.
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          2                 Can we have a reading of the vote?

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

          4  the affirmative, zero in the negative and one

          5  abstention, the item is adopted. Council Members,

          6  please sign the Committee report. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you, all.

          8                 Are there any other questions of this

          9  particular panel?

         10                 There being none, thank you very much

         11  for your testimony and your continued good work on

         12  behalf of the rights of the people of the City of

         13  New York, and we're hopeful that the negotiations

         14  will come to a full end sooner rather than later,

         15  because as I said earlier, permits delayed are

         16  permits denied. Thank you.

         17                 MR. TOLLIN: Simone Levine, Legal Aid

         18  Society; William Gibney, Legal Aid Society; Nancy

         19  Chang, Center for Constitutional Rights; Alex

         20  Vitale, Brooklyn Law School.

         21                 Please raise your right hands.

         22                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         23  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         24  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         25                 (Witnesses sworn.)
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          2                 MR. TOLLIN: Okay, could you, before

          3  testifying, give your name, your organization you're

          4  affiliated with.

          5                 We'll just hold off for one second.

          6                 MR. GIBNEY: Good morning. I wanted to

          7  thank this Committee and the City Council for the

          8  opportunity to testify about this very important

          9  matter.

         10                 I am William Gibney, Senior Attorney

         11  with the Special Litigation Unit at the Legal Aid

         12  Society.

         13                 As you know, we are the primary

         14  public defender of people who are accused of

         15  criminal violation in the City of New York. We act

         16  in the role of public defender.

         17                 In that role we were assigned to

         18  represent many of the people who were arrested at

         19  last year's demonstrations, and it's as a result of

         20  the knowledge that we gained from speaking with the

         21  people who were arrested that's much of the basis of

         22  our testimony this morning.

         23                 The politics and political theater

         24  that surround the Republican National Convention

         25  will capture the attention of the world and will
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          2  likely have an impact on our nation for the

          3  foreseeable future.

          4                 New York City, with its diverse

          5  population and long history of tolerance for

          6  different points of view will be in a position to

          7  show the world what it means to live in a democracy

          8  that can effectively balance security and freedom of

          9  speech.

         10                 The Republican National Convention is

         11  likely to draw large numbers of people from all

         12  across the political spectrum. An important first

         13  step in ensuring a peaceful convention is that the

         14  City recognize that its obligation to protect public

         15  safety extends not only to those who attend the

         16  convention itself, but also equally to those who

         17  choose to express their First Amendment Right to

         18  dissent.

         19                 If this broad definition of public

         20  safety is accepted, the chances that the Convention

         21  will be marred by violence will be greatly reduced.

         22                 New York should not follow what some

         23  have been calling the "Miami model of law

         24  enforcement preparation for upcoming demonstration.

         25                 In preparation for last November's
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          2  protest against negotiations to establish a free

          3  trade area of the Americas. The Miami Police

          4  Department identified itself only with the

          5  organizers of the FTAA. The protestors were

          6  demonized in advance as anarchists. Training was

          7  conducted with an emphasis on preparation for

          8  massive violent protests. Before the event the

          9  police employed a combination of preemptive arrests,

         10  infiltration of protest groups. Even though the

         11  violent protest failed to materialize, pepper spray,

         12  rubber bullets and excessive force were used on the

         13  demonstrators, including union members and elderly

         14  citizens who had permits to march.

         15                 Some have called this the practice

         16  run for this summer's New York City Republican

         17  National Convention.

         18                 A Miami community independent review

         19  panel that subsequently examined the conduct of the

         20  Miami police came to the following conclusion: The

         21  members of the independent review panel strenuously

         22  condemned and deplored the unrestrained and

         23  disproportionate use of force observed in Miami

         24  during the FTAA.

         25                 Nationally televised images of police
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          2  violence against nonviolent protesters strained our

          3  community. For a brief period of time, Miami lived

          4  under martial law. Civil rights were trampled and

          5  the sociopolitical values that we hold most dear

          6  were undermined.

          7                 The right of every citizen to

          8  publicly proclaim their approval and disdain for the

          9  actions are there elected leaders in a peaceful

         10  manner, is at the heart of what it means to be an

         11  American. The curtailment of that right is the first

         12  step from freedom towards bondage.

         13                 This August New York City can and

         14  must do better.

         15                 One important thing that can be done

         16  to assure peaceful expression of political

         17  expression is that early agreement on the clearly

         18  established rules will help avoid many of the

         19  incidents that avoided -- that resulted in the

         20  arrest of demonstrators in the past.

         21                 Last February 15th, there was an

         22  extended dispute over the nature of permits and

         23  whether demonstrators would be allowed to march.

         24                 The lengthy dispute over the scope of

         25  the permit, although done in the name of public
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          2  safety, undermined the safety and substantially

          3  contributed to the chaos that followed.

          4                 Both the police and the demonstrators

          5  on February 15th had little understanding to where a

          6  large number of people were supposed to go, and how

          7  they were supposed to get there and back.

          8                 The fact that the permits were not

          9  issued early directly led to this confusion.

         10                 We, therefore, support the provisions

         11  of just passed City Council Resolution 389-A, which

         12  make suggestions for early planning and clear rules

         13  in the demonstration process.

         14                 We also believe that appropriate

         15  crowd control measures should be taken. In addition

         16  to early planning, the use of metal pens, which from

         17  the people who were arrested last year, we know a

         18  number of people were arrested as they tried to

         19  enter and leave the pens, merely because they did

         20  something like they had to go to the restroom, and

         21  were trying to rejoin family members who were locked

         22  in the pens and could not get out.

         23                 The use of horseback, officers on

         24  horseback to charge people where there were no other

         25  means of escape, should not be repeated.
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          2                 We saw a number of demonstrators

          3  arrested when they tried to use purely defensive

          4  measures and the police interpreted that as being an

          5  assault on the police officer.

          6                 Minimum use of force in the course of

          7  any demonstration should be followed.

          8                 Finally, a point from the Legal Aid

          9  Society itself, as the primary defender of people in

         10  the criminal justice system, we experienced

         11  considerable delay in the February 15th

         12  demonstration last year in gaining access to our

         13  clients.

         14                 We would expect the rules would allow

         15  for defense counsel to have prompt access to anyone

         16  who was arrested in the upcoming demonstrations to

         17  be allowed.

         18                 We are also concerned that thus far

         19  Legal Aid has not been invited to participate,

         20  despite our efforts to do so, and any of the

         21  planning process for the upcoming demonstration.

         22                 So, we hear rumors from the NYPD of

         23  plans for up to 1,000 people being arrested a day.

         24  We heard reports of either four or six arraignment

         25  parts in Manhattan. We hear other reports that
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          2  Brooklyn arraignment parts are being used. We have

          3  tried to participate, expressing an interest in

          4  participating so that we can plan how defense

          5  services should be allocated and thus far we have

          6  been shut out.

          7                 So, we would like to continue to

          8  express an interest in participating and planning

          9  for the demonstration, and particularly in the

         10  provision of counsel for anyone who might get

         11  arrested in the course of the demonstrations.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Have you, if I

         14  may, have you raised interest in participating with

         15  some of the other organizers and legal folks that

         16  seem to be intertwined in the discussions?

         17                 MR. GIBNEY: Yes, we have been raising

         18  those with a number of different groups, yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         20                 MS. LEVINE: My name is Simone Levine,

         21  and I speak today as a member of the Association of

         22  Legal Aid Attorneys which is United Autoworkers

         23  2325, as well as a member of the National Lawyers

         24  Guild.

         25                 First of all, I wanted to mention
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          2  that we are honored to come in front of the

          3  Government Operations Subcommittee today. We have

          4  come to speak in support of the resolution that was

          5  passed today, No. 389-A. And overall, we would like

          6  to commend the priorities --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Excuse me. Just

          8  for the record, this is not a Subcommittee, this is

          9  the Committee.

         10                 MS. LEVINE: I apologize.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I understand. I

         12  just want to make sure you understand. This is the

         13  Governmental Operations Committee.

         14                 MS. LEVINE: Thereby I'm that much

         15  more honored.

         16                 Above all, we'd like to commend the

         17  priority that City Council members have placed on

         18  protecting the civil liberties of its citizens of

         19  the City and putting together the resolution.

         20                 This resolution is an important first

         21  step in ensuring that the events, the Republican

         22  National Convention can be handled smoothly so that

         23  New York City is seen as a shining example of a City

         24  that ensures the expression of a diversity of

         25  opinion.
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          2                 The Association of Legal Aid

          3  Attorneys finds itself in a unique position as the

          4  only unionized group of public defenders. We handle

          5  more than 82 percent of all the cases coming into

          6  the criminal justice system.

          7                 In fact, we handle more than 90

          8  percent of all the cases at this point coming

          9  through the criminal justice system.

         10                 We carry the heavy burden of ensuring

         11  the liberty of demonstrators during their criminal

         12  prosecution, and in fact, we are the recipients of

         13  the eternal question why am I here in Criminal

         14  Court.

         15                 As a member of the National Lawyers

         16  Guild, I can also say proudly that we are building

         17  an apparatus to protect the rights of demonstrators,

         18  both on the streets, and if it comes to it, in the

         19  police precincts.

         20                 As a member of the National Lawyers

         21  Guild, we are bringing together a strong and

         22  cohesive group of private attorneys who will

         23  represent protesters where it is needed in their

         24  criminal cases.

         25                 We are organizing lawyers and law
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          2  students to negotiate pressure points that might be

          3  raised between police and demonstrators during the

          4  weeks that surround their Republican National

          5  Convention.

          6                 It is thus from that perspective that

          7  I commend the dedication of City Council members

          8  that have put together this resolution, and salute

          9  the resolution as a strong first step.

         10                 From this resolution, we can see

         11  eminent future steps before the RNC, which as the

         12  National Lawyers Guild and the Association of Legal

         13  Aid Attorneys we recommend.

         14                 First of all, future information

         15  sharing forums, which the police and also the Parks

         16  Department will attend; and

         17                 Second, extensive measures to ensure

         18  that demonstrators be free of political

         19  interrogation and that in the case of arrest, their

         20  arrest be facilitated and expedited of a process as

         21  possible.

         22                 We have learned a lot of lessons here

         23  in New York City. With the anti-war demonstrations

         24  beginning February 15th of last year, and date even

         25  farther back to the World Economic Forum, which took
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          2  place in 2002.

          3                 As an attorney for Legal Aid Society,

          4  we defended the over 500 arrests that were made on

          5  February 15th alone.

          6                 Either in their initial court

          7  appearances and in many cases their subsequent court

          8  and trial dates, we were there sorting through the

          9  videotape footage of demonstrators having nowhere to

         10  go on Second and Third Avenue as the horses rolled

         11  in.

         12                 All streets blocked off by police

         13  barricades from 51st Street to 57th Street, and we

         14  were there as well after the jury acquittals, with

         15  jurors describing to us their horror over seeing

         16  what New York City had become on February 15th.

         17                 As a member of the National Lawyers

         18  Guild, we listen to stories of demonstrators of a

         19  forum from which the police interrogated them.

         20                 What political group were they from?

         21  What was the address of their political group? The

         22  names of its members? What were the goals of their

         23  group? Did they support US policies? What did they

         24  think of the policies in the Middle East?

         25                 This was after repeated several times
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          2  that they asked for counsel during this

          3  interrogation.

          4                 So we are talking about public

          5  safety, the protection of liberty and the freedom of

          6  interrogation of all New Yorkers, and all of those

          7  Americans who have decided to come to New York City

          8  for the Republican National Convention. And we have

          9  positive examples as well, positive examples that we

         10  could look to.

         11                 More than two months ago in

         12  Washington DC, Washington DC was a host to the pro

         13  choice abortion rally. Police and organizers spent

         14  more than a year extensively planning the largest

         15  and to the most minute details of this demonstration

         16  march and speaking of that. Men, women and children

         17  from all over the country came to attend this rally

         18  and the organizers counted a whopping 1 million

         19  people that attended.

         20                 There were pro choice and pro life

         21  groups in attendance. The police were in the streets

         22  ensuring safety, and the police counted a total of

         23  seven arrests. Seven arrests in a million people who

         24  came to attend the demonstration.

         25                 There were no complaints made to the
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          2  Civilian Complaint Review Board, not like here in

          3  New York City which was faced with a deluge of

          4  complaints during the anti-war rallies.

          5                 The police did not have any mistakes

          6  or confusion and communications in DC, as they

          7  admitted to having during February 15th. Why were

          8  these two experiences so different? Why were these

          9  two rallies so different?

         10                 The answer is better planning and

         11  better communication between police, organizers and

         12  lawyers.

         13                 The Legal Aid Society of the National

         14  Lawyers Guild and the UPFJ have attempted to sit

         15  down in conversations with the Police Department so

         16  that we can better plan the events setting around

         17  the RNC.

         18                 The NLG and the Legal Aid Society

         19  have yet to receive any information from Kelly, the

         20  FBI or any of the private security forces involved

         21  in the Republican National Convention.

         22                 In fact, what we have here are two

         23  major groups dedicated to the protection of the

         24  legal rights of demonstrators, having little to

         25  absolutely no information about what will be
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          2  happening in the streets during these two weeks.

          3                 What this translates is to these two

          4  groups, the Association of Legal Aid Attorneys and

          5  National Lawyers Guild for Attorneys, working as

          6  legal observers, trying to negotiate conflicts that

          7  might arise between police and demonstrators, and

          8  yet, not knowing any of the streets that are going

          9  to be blocked off by the police, whether horses are

         10  going to be used. What that means is that the ALAA

         11  and the NLG organizing lawyers to go to precincts

         12  for demonstrators demand the use of an attorney,

         13  without the Police Department telling us where they

         14  are planning on booking demonstrators or whether

         15  they will bar attorneys from meeting with their

         16  clients again this year like they did during

         17  February 15th.

         18                 What this means is that the

         19  prosecution and Police Department will speak about

         20  an estimated 1,000 arrests a day, without feeling

         21  the need to share, share with those that will be

         22  burdened with the defense of these pre-determined

         23  1,000 a day, how they came to this figure, and we as

         24  the ALAA, do not know how many of our rank and file

         25  will be working in the courts to handle the influx
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          2  of criminal cases.

          3                 As the District Attorney's Office

          4  makes statements that they will not tolerate any

          5  budget cuts, and talk about the need for additional

          6  resources, the Legal Aid Society will be straddled

          7  with more than 80 percent of these cases, is looking

          8  at its demise if it does not get the necessary

          9  funding to handle the cases it is supposed to

         10  handle.

         11                 The Police Department talks about the

         12  overwhelming cost of security during the RNC. The

         13  Legal Aid Society faces the layoff of over 200

         14  attorneys. Two-hundred attorneys who would have been

         15  expected to handle the criminal defense of

         16  protesters during the RNC.

         17                 The City Council and the Mayor's

         18  Office must approve the money requested by the only

         19  unionized shop of public defenders in this City so

         20  that we can be handled to expect the thousands of

         21  arrests that we have been told we will be looking

         22  forward to (sic).

         23                 Finally, there must be extensive

         24  measures to ensure that demonstrators be free of

         25  political interrogation and that in the case of
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          2  arrests, their arrests be as facilitated of a

          3  process as possible.

          4                 The normal remedy to combat a legal

          5  interrogation of a demonstrator, criminal defendant,

          6  contravention of their right to attorney is to

          7  suppress or not allow for the admission of the

          8  statement, their statement to police to come in

          9  against the demonstrator in his or her criminal

         10  trial.

         11                 But what happens when the police

         12  dismiss the case against the demonstrator before it

         13  goes to court, but still file away the results of

         14  the interrogation?

         15                 What happens when the police decide

         16  not to use the statements against the defendant in

         17  his criminal case, but still interrogate him or her

         18  with the intent of keeping the information derived

         19  from the interrogation in a separate file.

         20                 While, this might seem dubious, this

         21  is exactly what happened with numerous individuals

         22  interrogated with the debriefing form, which the

         23  NYPD used during February 15th and subsequent

         24  demonstrations.

         25                 This practice must be stopped and
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          2  there must be a means to ensure that this type of

          3  interrogation does not occur during RNC or

          4  afterwards.

          5                 This practice is prohibited by the

          6  Handschu decrees, the Handschu decree mentioned by

          7  this resolution. Given the priority of this issue,

          8  we ask that the City Council be directly involved in

          9  initiating a resolution prohibiting such illegal and

         10  frightening activities.

         11                 According to a police consent decree,

         12  the police have agreed that protesters cannot be

         13  denied desk appearance tickets, just purely because

         14  they are protesters.

         15                 A desk appearance ticket is a ticket

         16  that is given to the arrestee requiring that they

         17  return to court on a certain date, thus allowing the

         18  demonstrator to allow the 24-hour process of

         19  incarceration delay before they see a judge.

         20                 The National Lawyers Guild of

         21  Attorneys have sued the Police Department several

         22  times for summarily denying protesters desk

         23  appearance tickets, by the virtue that they are

         24  demonstrators.

         25                 Demonstrators have continued to be
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          2  told by police that they cannot receive desk

          3  appearance tickets because they are protesters.

          4                 The National Lawyers Guild has also

          5  received complaints that demonstrators of color and

          6  transgendered demonstrators, have been refused desk

          7  appearance tickets while their white, straight

          8  counterparts have received them.

          9                 This practice must be stopped, and

         10  since direct litigation and the Police Department's

         11  own consent decree has proven insufficient to stop

         12  this practice, we call on City Council to adopt

         13  stronger measures.

         14                 Finally, by law a defendant must see

         15  a judge within 24 hours of his or her arrest.

         16                 This judge will then determine

         17  whether to set bail or release the defendant without

         18  any bail until the next court appearance.

         19                 We have seen, however, that

         20  demonstrators have been kept in the system for a

         21  period of sometimes 30 hours, and sometimes 36

         22  hours, and as long as 40 hours.

         23                 The defense attorney knows that his

         24  or her client is still in the system after 24 hours,

         25  they can ask for the release of that individual with
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          2  a rit habeous corpus.

          3                 However, often judges will not

          4  entertain rits. Often no one will know about a lone

          5  one or two individuals lost in the system, there

          6  must be further steps taken that the law in New York

          7  will be followed in this regard.

          8                 This is in direct contradiction to

          9  the normal criminal case which enjoys a much greater

         10  chance in success in getting through the system

         11  within the 24 hour allotted period.

         12                 In conclusion, we applaud the initial

         13  move on the part of City Council, in its proposal

         14  and its adoption of Resolution 389-A.

         15                 We applaud this move because it

         16  emulates the priority the City has for protecting

         17  Civil Liberties, the First Amendment and the

         18  security of those will peacefully protest at the RNC

         19  this August.

         20                 However, we ask, and indeed we

         21  implore the City Council, to not let its concern

         22  rest assured and satisfied with this initial move,

         23  but instead to use its concern for the security of

         24  the City of New York to implement these two further

         25  measures.
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          2                 These measures being, to plan future

          3  information sharing forums that at least the Police

          4  Department, the Parks Department, the District

          5  Attorney's office and defense groups in attendance;

          6  and

          7                 Second, to propose more extensive

          8  measures to ensure that demonstrators be free of

          9  political interrogation and that in the case of

         10  arrest, that this arrest be as facilitated,

         11  expeditive (sic) a process as possible.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 MS. CHANG: Thank you.

         15                 My name is Nancy Chang. I'm the

         16  attorney at the Center for Constitutional Rights and

         17  I would like to thank Councilman Perkins for holding

         18  this very timely hearing on a very important issue.

         19                 Just as the whole world was watching

         20  Chicago during the Democratic National Convention in

         21  1968, the whole world will be watching New York City

         22  during the Republican National Convention this

         23  August.

         24                 Post-September 11th America is at a

         25  critical juncture in the 2004 presidential election,
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          2  promises to be one of the most fiercely contested

          3  elections this nation has witnessed in decades. More

          4  than a quarter of a million people are expected to

          5  demonstrate on New York City's streets to protest

          6  the Bush's Administration's preemptive war on Iraq,

          7  a war that has resulted in the deaths of more than

          8  800 American military officers and thousands of

          9  Iraqis, and that has to clear end in sight, and to

         10  protest the Bush Administration's sacrifice of our

         11  civil liberties in the name of fighting terrorism,

         12  and its neglect of our social program and aging

         13  infrastructure in favor of military spending.

         14                 The swift and unanimous passage today

         15  of resolution 389-A will send a powerful message to

         16  the Mayor and the City Police Department that

         17  over-aggressively tactics used by the NYPD at recent

         18  demonstrations will not be tolerated at the RNC. But

         19  the City Council must do more than simply pass

         20  Resolution 389-A. Between now and the close of the

         21  convention the Council must exert its full oversight

         22  powers and all the pressure it can bear on the

         23  City's Executive Branch to ensure that the NYPD

         24  issues prompt and fair decisions on permit

         25  applications.
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          2                 Marchers should be allowed to pass

          3  within sight and sound of the Convention site and

          4  rally in central locations.

          5                 The Council must also ensure that

          6  NYPD works in close cooperation with activists to

          7  plan events that are safe, well organized, widely

          8  announced, and avoid the use of restrictive police

          9  pens and coercive methods of crowd control.

         10                 There is another matter that has been

         11  alluded to today that needs to be confronted head

         12  on, the chill on free expression that the NYPD's

         13  past act of hostility of protesters has cast.

         14                 The Center for Constitutional rights

         15  currently represents 52 anti-war protesters in a

         16  federal civil rights suit, Captain Counselor

         17  (phonetic) versus City of New York. The center's

         18  clients were unlawfully arrested on April 7th, 2003,

         19  along with several dozen others, as they were

         20  peacefully demonstrating against the Carlisle group,

         21  a defense industry investment firm with close ties

         22  to the Bush Administration.

         23                 They unexpectedly found themselves

         24  boxed in by a phalanx of police officers, and were

         25  handcuffed, arrested, transported to the parking lot
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          2  of the Javits Center where they were left out in the

          3  freezing cold and snow, taken to one police plaza,

          4  fingerprinted, photographed, detained for

          5  approximately 12 hours and charged with disorderly

          6  conduct.

          7                 One of the protesters had been

          8  knocked to the sidewalk by the police for no

          9  apparent reason and sustained a large gash on his

         10  forehead that required emergency medical care and

         11  stitches.

         12                 Police officers applied plastic

         13  handcuffs so tightly that a number of protesters

         14  experienced severe pain, numbness and swelling of

         15  the hands and the protesters' pleas that the

         16  handcuffs be loosened went unheeded.

         17                 Also, in a number of cases, police

         18  intelligence office interrogated protesters outside

         19  the presence of their attorneys, concerning the

         20  political pleas and their personal lives, under the

         21  threat that they could be kept in jail if they did

         22  not answer these questions.

         23                 Not only were the center's clients

         24  forced to miss school and work on April 7th, 2003,

         25  they were forced to take additional days off to
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          2  retain counsel and make numerous appearances in

          3  Criminal Court until they were finally able to clear

          4  their names of the bogus charges filed against them.

          5                 Despite the fact that a full 14

          6  months have elapsed since their arrest and despite

          7  their strong commitment and desire to demonstrate

          8  against the Bush Administration at the RNC, they are

          9  concerned. They are afraid that they could be

         10  seriously injured by the Police if they were to

         11  approach us, they fear that they would be unlawfully

         12  arrested, held in prolonged attention again, held

         13  under harsh conditions, and charged with crimes they

         14  did not commit.

         15                 They further fear, again, not without

         16  cause that their political activism could make them

         17  the targets of police, political surveillance.

         18                 When civic minded New Yorkers are too

         19  afraid to protest in their own City, it is time to

         20  assess the health of our democracy.

         21                 The center urges the City Council to

         22  do everything within its power to make sure that the

         23  whole, when the whole world is watching New York

         24  City during the RNC, the world sees a City that

         25  treasures freedom of speech.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 PROFESSOR VITALE: Good afternoon.

          4  Alex Vitale, Professor of Sociology at Brooklyn

          5  College, City University of New York.

          6                 The City of New York is facing a

          7  major challenge this summer in accommodating the

          8  needs of the Republican party, hundreds of thousands

          9  of demonstrators and the residents of the City not

         10  involved with either group.

         11                 The job of the City and its various

         12  departments is to balance the rights of these groups

         13  within the framework of our legal system, including

         14  the bill of rights.

         15                 On February 15th of 2003, the NYPD

         16  failed in this basic obligation. They decided it was

         17  appropriate to us highly dangerous levels of force,

         18  including charging horses into crowds and

         19  indiscriminate use of pepper spray against peaceful

         20  crowds whose only alleged crime was standing in a

         21  street.

         22                 In addition, they denied people the

         23  right to march and created an elaborate system of

         24  barricades that made it impossible for hundreds of

         25  thousands of people to get to the demonstration, or
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          2  to move about freely within the permitted rally

          3  area. The result was hundreds of an unnecessary

          4  arrest and numerous preventable injuries.

          5                 In addition, those who were arrested

          6  were subjected to long periods in unheated vans

          7  without access to food, bathrooms, medical care or

          8  legal representation.

          9                 Significant steps must be taken to

         10  prevent this from being repeated this summer during

         11  the Republican National Convention.

         12                 To that end, I am here today to speak

         13  in favor of the resolution before you. It does

         14  provide an important framework for protecting the

         15  rights of people to petition their government for

         16  redress of wrongs, one of the most fundamental

         17  values of American society.

         18                 I would like to spend the next couple

         19  of minutes outlying why I think the NYPD has failed

         20  in its responsibility to protect this right, and how

         21  this resolution could be built upon.

         22                 Over the last ten years, I've been

         23  reviewing the conduct of the NYPD at demonstrations

         24  in comparison to other major cities in the United

         25  States and Europe. A clear pattern has emerged.
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          2                 The NYPD is invested in a system of

          3  total control of demonstrations, and you've heard

          4  prior testimony about this.

          5                 This approach is an outgrowth of

          6  their commitment to the broken windows theory, and

          7  its emphasis on eliminating disorder. The NYPD's

          8  actions at demonstrations indicate that it believes

          9  that any disorder at a protest event that is left

         10  uncontrolled will result in a major breach of the

         11  peace.

         12                 They have taken it upon themselves to

         13  micromanage every aspect of a demonstration in order

         14  to prevent this from happening.

         15                 Ironically, it is exactly this

         16  attempt at micromanagement and control that has led

         17  to escalations of disorder in the past.

         18                 In 1998 the NYPD's use of force to

         19  end the million youth march exactly at 4:00 p.m. led

         20  to a violent confrontation resulting in injury to

         21  police and demonstrators.

         22                 Again, in 1998, the Department's

         23  blanket refusal to allow a march in response to the

         24  killing of Matthew Shepard resulted in an illegal

         25  march that police intended to stop through the
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          2  mobilization of over 1,000 officers. Several people

          3  were injured by horses and batons and the City had

          4  to pay out over half a million dollars in civil

          5  settlements to those injured plus police overtime.

          6                 In the process, relations with police

          7  in the gay and lesbian community were badly damaged.

          8                 I'll just skip that, in the interest

          9  of time. On February 15th, an estimated 4,000 police

         10  officers were deployed. This is a larger number of

         11  officers than the entire police forces of all but a

         12  few of the largest cities in the United States and

         13  Europe.

         14                 Permitted events of large sizes in

         15  cities like Washington, D.C. and San Francisco, are

         16  met with at most a few hundred officers, not the

         17  thousands we routinely see in New York.

         18                 The NYPD believes that demonstrations

         19  should not be allowed to inconvenience

         20  non-demonstrators in any way, and that failures to

         21  micromanage these demonstrations will lead to chaos.

         22  This assessment is clearly incorrect.

         23                 In addition, they do not seem to be

         24  able to distinguish between peaceful permitted

         25  demonstrations and those that are designed with the
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          2  intention of breaking the law.

          3                 At a hearing before this Committee

          4  last year, the NYPD said that it performed well,

          5  compared to the San Francisco Police Department in

          6  its handling of anti-war demonstrations. In

          7  particular, they referred to the large direct

          8  actions that immobilized much of central San

          9  Francisco for much of the day that the war began.

         10                 Comparing the events of February 15th

         11  to that is to compare apples and oranges.

         12                 The events in San Francisco were

         13  unpermitted direct actions that were designed to

         14  break the law and cause disruption. Legal

         15  demonstrations held in San Francisco were policed by

         16  a few hundred officers without incident, again, of a

         17  size of hundreds of thousands of people.

         18                 In New York they assigned thousands

         19  of officers rather than hundreds.

         20                 Similarly, the Corporation Counsel's

         21  office, during the ongoing lawsuit brought by the

         22  NYCLU against the NYPD argued that the City had an

         23  interest in controlling the free movement of people

         24  within a demonstration to prevent injury as people

         25  tried to jockey for position around the stage.
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          2                 The NYPD treats demonstrations as if

          3  they were rock concerts. There is no history in New

          4  York or around the United States of people being

          5  injured in such a manner. No one has ever been

          6  crushed to death trying to get closer to Ralph

          7  Nader.

          8                 In fact, the heavy use of metal

          9  protest pens enhances the prospect of injury,

         10  because if something were to happen to cause the

         11  crowd to panic, people would have no way of getting

         12  out. And we had reports of this from February 15th.

         13                 The resolution before you rightly

         14  calls on the NYPD to grant permits without delay,

         15  restrain from using force against non-violent

         16  crowds, eliminate the use of pens and barricades to

         17  micromanage the movement of demonstrators and to

         18  stop surveillance and infiltration.

         19                 There are some additional measures

         20  that need to be taken, as well. This body must take

         21  steps to ensure that the police are publicly

         22  accountable for their actions. One way to do that is

         23  to call them before you to explain their policies

         24  for the granting of permits, the utilization of

         25  barricades, the use of force at demonstrations and
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          2  treatment of arrestees while in custody.

          3                 The Council must ask the police to

          4  explain under what circumstances they would use

          5  water canons, rubber bullets, pepper spray, mounted

          6  units, and other so-called less lethal forms of

          7  violence against demonstrators.

          8                 There are no written policies for

          9  much of this. The Department now owns two European

         10  water canons and has never said the first thing

         11  about under what circumstances they would be used.

         12                 Finally, the police must be pressured

         13  to provide humane treatment to detainees. Whether

         14  because of poor preparation or intentional malice,

         15  the treatment of arrestees on February 15th was

         16  appalling. A repeat of that performance would be a

         17  dark stain on the City's reputation, especially

         18  given a recent elevated concern with these issues

         19  domestically and internationally.

         20                 Images of detainees suffering medical

         21  crises because of confinement in unair-conditioned

         22  vehicles without access to water, food, or medical

         23  care, would be a public relations nightmare for the

         24  NYPD and the entire City.

         25                 The City Council must impress upon
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          2  them the need to have adequate plans, facilities and

          3  resources in place to process arrestees in a timely

          4  and humane manner which respects their basic

          5  constitutional and human rights.

          6                 I thank you for supporting this

          7  resolution and I hope we can work together further

          8  to strengthen your efforts.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you all

         10  very much for your very thoughtful and wonderful

         11  suggestions on how we may be able to better manage

         12  this very, very important responsibility for which

         13  this City is highly regarded, the opportunity to

         14  have demonstrations and this is the venue for the

         15  nation in some respects, or at least for this region

         16  of the nation.

         17                 So, it's important that we look at

         18  this venue and see what we can do to make it as

         19  user-friendly as possible, particularly from the

         20  perspective of the First Amendment, and the

         21  suggestions that you offer seem to hit the mark

         22  quite well.

         23                 I'm familiar to some extent in other

         24  parts of the country, like San Francisco, and other

         25  areas, where the police are not so focused on total
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          2  control, in fact, it seems as if they have quite the

          3  opposite, and there seems to be some more positive

          4  results in terms of arrests and in terms of how

          5  people feel their rights are being exercised.

          6                 Are you familiar with some of these

          7  other approaches, and what is your familiarity?

          8                 PROFESSOR VITALE: Well, not only are

          9  arrests reduced but injuries and cost -- I mean, can

         10  you imagine the difference of cost between deploying

         11  a few hundred officers and deploying several

         12  thousand officers at an event? I mean, you're

         13  talking about a tremendous amount of money.

         14                 Other departments have had to adopt

         15  better methods because they do not have tens of

         16  thousands of officers to throw at these problems.

         17                 We've heard comments about the

         18  training. The training in New York for the handling

         19  of demonstrations is appalling, appalling, compared

         20  to other cities that regularly have demonstrations.

         21                 In other cities they've learned how

         22  to utilize officers efficiently to achieve the same

         23  ends, or sometimes different preferable ends.

         24                 In most cities in the United States,

         25  in Europe where demonstrations are common, a
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          2  philosophy of negotiated management or a doctrine of

          3  negotiation management is used. And in our NYCLU

          4  report Arresting Protest, we go into some detail

          5  about what that is and I could talk to you more

          6  about that, but basically the lessons learned in the

          7  1960s were that if you met protest with an escalated

          8  use of force, you just guarantee that there would be

          9  forceful confrontation.

         10                 And so that instead lines of

         11  communication should be open, negotiations should be

         12  engaged in and a certain level of tolerance of

         13  disruption should be allowed.

         14                 Again, it's the City's commitment to

         15  this broken window zero tolerance no disorder at all

         16  policy that's leading to this problem, that other

         17  cities don't get so upset when they have to divert

         18  some traffic unexpectedly, when they have to deal

         19  with a certain amount of disruption.

         20                 That's what happens in a democracy.

         21  And in New York there's just zero tolerance for

         22  that, and that's what creates these terrible

         23  conditions.

         24                 So, other cities use dramatically

         25  fewer officers, very little overtime, and they don't
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          2  have these kinds of confrontations.

          3                 Mostly what they do is they station

          4  some rapid response unit near the demonstration, in

          5  the event that there might be some problem. But the

          6  actual route of march or rally is largely

          7  un-policed. They have a few officers there to keep

          8  an eye on things, to guide people, answer questions.

          9  They don't use these barricades in the same way.

         10  They don't line the march route with police, they

         11  don't bring in visible mounted units and stuff, that

         12  stuff is a few reserve officers off to the side

         13  ready to respond as needed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you know of

         15  any other cities or jurisdictions that do what New

         16  York does? And what has been their experience? Has

         17  it been similar to New York in terms of cost, in

         18  terms of arrest, in terms of injuries, in terms of

         19  chilling effect on people's sense of civil

         20  liberties?

         21                 PROFESSOR VITALE: Some cities have

         22  attempted some of these methods in relationship to

         23  events where the event organizers have said

         24  explicitly that they're going to break the law.

         25                 So, for instance, when mass illegal
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          2  demonstrations were planned in Seattle in 1999, or

          3  in Washington when the Imeth (phonetic) World Bank

          4  was meeting. Then we saw some use of barricades and

          5  a more aggressive police presence. And we could have

          6  a discussion about whether or not it's appropriate

          7  when organizers say we're out here, we're going to

          8  break the law, we're not applying for permits, et

          9  cetera. That's one discussion, but that's not what

         10  we're talking about here, right? We're talking about

         11  groups that have applied for permits, are expected

         12  to receive permits, are stating publicly that they

         13  intend to abide by the law. That's the big

         14  difference. The NYPD doesn't seem to be able to tell

         15  the difference between those kinds of events.

         16                 For legal permitted demonstrations, I

         17  have never seen another City use force, control,

         18  barricades, et cetera, in the way NYPD does.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I would imagine

         20  in the City we are expecting both types for the

         21  convention. I would imagine that you're going to

         22  have the permitted types where the intention is not

         23  to break the law, and the intention is to be

         24  peaceful and orderly, and even to celebrate to some

         25  extent.
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          2                 And then I would imagine that there

          3  are those who are coming specifically to be arrested

          4  and to be disorderly.

          5                 PROFESSOR VITALE: I think that's

          6  right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And the concern

          8  I have is, listening to your testimony, all of your

          9  testimony, is that clearly in the planning of the

         10  convention, this City has to take into consideration

         11  strategies to address both types, and we're not

         12  clear if the city is looking at it from those two

         13  points of view, if there are strategies that are

         14  being taken into consideration for both types or if

         15  it's just one strategy, the most aggressive strategy

         16  for the most aggressive type of demonstrating.

         17                 And not having them here to answer to

         18  these concerns puts us at a disadvantage, a very

         19  severe disadvantage, because conceivably from your

         20  testimony, we can minimize cost, we can minimize the

         21  type of arrests that are made, and our City can look

         22  better than if we go back to where we were on the

         23  15th.

         24                 And, so, this brings me to the issues

         25  that you're raising, as it relates to the access to
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          2  those who may be arrested and information. And I

          3  remember February 15th, that evening

          4  , receiving calls all night long from lawyers, the

          5  National Lawyers Guild or the Civil Liberties Union

          6  about the fact that there was demonstrators still in

          7  the wagons, the paddy-wagons I guess you call them,

          8  and they were experiencing some difficulty with air

          9  and it was getting dark and at the same time there

         10  were all kinds of difficulty in terms of the

         11  processing of those who were being arrested, or

         12  whatever they were being.

         13                 And, so, I'm just wondering, again,

         14  where is the conversation going with this City, and

         15  the lawyers and the so-called protesters and

         16  demonstrators, to sort of facilitate or to

         17  understand how that process was taking place; do you

         18  have anything you can add to tell us about those

         19  conversations?

         20                 MR. GIBNEY: Only that there are no

         21  conversations going on that I know of right now, and

         22  we have expressed an interest in having those

         23  conversations, because we think they're necessary.

         24  But so far, the access to defense counsel and

         25  quickly processing demonstrator, it just has not
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          2  been on an agenda with anybody on the defense side

          3  anyway, to talk with us.

          4                 MS. LEVINE: I would definitely agree

          5  with what Bill Gibney had just said, and I would

          6  just emphasize how we feel as defense attorneys that

          7  your committee can help us with this process,

          8  because we have made numerous attempts to actually

          9  get more information, and we have not gotten that

         10  information. We have not gotten those meetings that

         11  we need in order to have the information to

         12  facilitate the process.

         13                 We have had some informal discussion

         14  with members of the court and the Office of Court

         15  Administration, as to what might be possibly

         16  happening, however, nothing in a formal manner.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, this

         18  Committee, I as the Chair of this Committee am very

         19  interested in seeing what we can do to be helpful in

         20  that direction of having to sit down and developing

         21  some conversation and some decisions around how to

         22  do this the right way.

         23                 There doesn't seem to be a need for

         24  us and them in every aspect of these demonstrations

         25  that are going to be taking place. There's an
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          2  administrative or management piece of this that we

          3  should all be working towards and ultimately to

          4  protect the First Amendment and to protect the

          5  rights of those who were demonstrators, as well as

          6  to make sure that the people of the City of New York

          7  are safe.

          8                 So, we will be in touch with you as

          9  we make our efforts to have the kind of dialogue

         10  that your testimony speaks to.

         11                 Let me, again, with regard to the

         12  Handschu law and the discussions that you are

         13  concerned about as far as the police interrogating

         14  people in areas that are inappropriate, has there

         15  been any communication with them in that regard

         16  either at all?

         17                 Are they familiar with your concerns

         18  in that regard?

         19                 MS. LEVINE: We have had, there was a

         20  suit that was brought in front of a judge in

         21  reference to Handschu violations, and I believe that

         22  that was the end of the discussion on the matter.

         23                 As far as the debriefing form that

         24  was made public by the New York Times, that

         25  specifically discrete issue was brought in front of
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          2  the judge that was reviewing the Handschu policy.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 We're going to follow-up -- oh, you

          6  have something you wanted to add? I'm sorry. Thank

          7  you very, very much. It was very informative, and

          8  the concerns that you raise, especially about the

          9  arrestees is an area that some time may have been

         10  ignored in some people's minds, and I'm glad you put

         11  it on the record because it is a big, big part of

         12  these demonstrations and needs to be addressed. And

         13  the alternative approaches are very important, that

         14  we need to see if there can be discussion about it.

         15  Not just whether or not there should be pens, but

         16  other experiences and other jurisdictions that might

         17  be fruitful. So, thank you very, very much.

         18                 The next panel?

         19                 MR. TOLLIN: Rita Haley, NOW New York

         20  City. Kathleen Sullivan, Educators for Social

         21  Responsibility. George Rosquist, Freedom Now. If

         22  Rick Munn is still present.

         23                 Ralph Warren, Jr., Bill of Rights

         24  Defense Committee. Robert Jereski. Terri Hasan, New

         25  York City Bill of Rights Defense Campaign.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just take

          3  a moment to recognize the folks from the Bill of

          4  Rights Defense Committee for their extraordinary

          5  support in the landmark resolution that was passed

          6  by this City Council with respect to the Patriot

          7  Act.

          8                 This was a major accomplishment of

          9  this Council to have gotten involved with it and to

         10  have been able to champion it and have it passed by

         11  this Council, and I know that it didn't start out as

         12  a welcomed resolution, and that it took a lot of

         13  time and effort and commitment on the part of people

         14  who are not paid, who are volunteers, to help us

         15  move it through the process. But it was a very much

         16  appreciated contribution and it put this Council on

         17  record with many other cities in defense of civil

         18  liberties, and it's very, very important that New

         19  York City, no matter the tragedies that we

         20  experience establish that we believe in security, we

         21  believe in safety, and at the same time we also

         22  believe in our democracy and the principles that it

         23  stands for.

         24                 And so I just wanted to say, before

         25  you get sworn in, thank you very much, those of you
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          2  who were a part of that because it was very

          3  important to us.

          4                 MS. HALEY: Good morning. I am Rita

          5  Haley, and I am the President of the New York City

          6  Chapter of the National Organization for Women. NOW

          7  New York City represents thousands of women in New

          8  York City, and on their behalf I thank you for

          9  affording us this opportunity to testify on behalf

         10  of Resolution 389.

         11                 NOW New York City joins with Speaker

         12  Miller and Council Member Perkins, and other

         13  supporters of this resolution, in calling upon

         14  government officials to protect and uphold the

         15  Constitution of the United States of America, and

         16  the rights of New Yorkers and all other women, men

         17  and children of this country to freedom of speech,

         18  and assembly.

         19                 As a bit of background, I wanted to

         20  tell you the problems in this City, as you heard it

         21  from the last round of testifiers, had began long

         22  before February 15th and before 9/11. In the year, I

         23  believe it was 2001, one of our members was arrested

         24  for participating in a peaceful demonstration, a

         25  small, peaceful demonstration by CitiBank, just
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          2  because she was demonstrating.

          3                 NOW New York City, with the

          4  assistance of the New York Civil Liberties Union,

          5  sued the City and the Police Department and they

          6  were forced to reconsider their policy of just

          7  arresting demonstrators who were doing nothing wrong

          8  but that had been actually a police policy during

          9  the Giuliani Administration.

         10                 During the demonstration when

         11  President Bush was in New York City doing a

         12  fundraiser, and I can't remember the date of that,

         13  but it was in, I believe, the spring of last year,

         14  demonstrators were penned in so tightly that they

         15  could not move. Our right to freedom of speech was

         16  certainly abridged because we could not even hand

         17  out leaflets, much less be able to move about and

         18  talk to people in a crowds. Only the arranged

         19  speakers could express their opinions, which was

         20  fine for me because I was one of them, but it did

         21  not afford others the opportunity to talk to the

         22  people around them.

         23                 And, in fact, people were arrested

         24  for what we could see was no reason. Maybe somebody

         25  like touched a police officer by accident, or leaned
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          2  part of themselves over the barricade. It was a very

          3  tight area.

          4                 I wanted to let you know that NOW New

          5  York City has submitted an application to the

          6  Department of Parks and Recreation for a permit to

          7  utilize Central Park's great lawn, for a

          8  demonstration in protest of the Republican National

          9  Convention, and we are protesting because of the

         10  harm done to the women, men, children and young

         11  adults of our City and our country by the Bush

         12  Agenda and the Republican National Convention

         13  platforms.

         14                 I'm going to skip part of what I had

         15  initially planned to speak, and move on to things

         16  that I think have been addressed less or perhaps

         17  from our view insufficiently.

         18                 Just, one, I want to urge the

         19  adoption of the resolution and the adherence to the

         20  tenants by the Mayor, the Police Commissioner and

         21  the Parks Commissioner, in order, in fact, to

         22  increase safety during the Republican National

         23  Convention.

         24                 We see the refusal of permits and the

         25  use of force to constrain demonstrations in the safe
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          2  -- supposedly in the name of safety to be

          3  disingenuous. Preventing New Yorkers from exercising

          4  their constitutional rights, is more likely to

          5  engender than to prevent violence.

          6                 We also urge the adoption of the

          7  resolution and the adherence to its tenants, because

          8  all women, and people of color, and LGBT people, and

          9  disabled people and poor people and immigrants in

         10  this country are penned in and barricaded and

         11  constrained by discrimination against all of these

         12  groups.

         13                 Our reproductive freedom, our right

         14  to control our own bodies, our rights to economic,

         15  educational judicial and social justice are

         16  constrained. We should not have our right to free

         17  speech be also constrained.

         18                 I would like to add to that the issue

         19  of the bonds.

         20                 NOW New York City would certainly

         21  want to protect the park because we are New Yorkers,

         22  and we love this park, and we also wish to remind

         23  the City that we did not get to determine that the

         24  City was going to spend what will undoubtedly be

         25  millions of dollars to the safety of the RNC and the
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          2  President.

          3                 That was not taken by a vote and this

          4  was not being done by New Yorkers.

          5                 Our permit is by a New York City

          6  organization filed by a native New Yorker, and for

          7  us to be told that we -- which we haven't been told,

          8  but assuming we will be, because we have to provide

          9  a bond that New York City now can definitely not

         10  afford to do, is another way of constraining the

         11  access to legitimate rights of citizens and

         12  non-citizens of this country, because they are poor,

         13  and I genuinely object to the idea that New Yorkers

         14  cannot use our own park because it might damage the

         15  park. Yes, it will cost money, but it will

         16  undoubtedly cost -- should that happen, it

         17  undoubtedly would cost less money than the City is

         18  paying to hold a convention that will disrupt

         19  operation of this entire City, its public

         20  transportation. You know, it's my understanding that

         21  small businesses have moved out of the area just for

         22  the time during the convention, because they know

         23  they will not be able to do business. All this is

         24  being done for non-New Yorkers, but for groups who

         25  are New Yorkers, to be told that, well, you have to
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          2  pay a bond because you want to use your city's

          3  resources, and they might get damaged, is, I

          4  consider, outrageous. And so that really are the

          5  points that I wanted to address most specifically on

          6  behalf of women and other oppressed groups in this

          7  City and in this country.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 MR. JERESKI: Thank you, Chair

         10  Perkins, for holding this hearing.

         11                 My name is Robert Jereski, I'm a

         12  candidate for Congress in the 14th Congressional

         13  District, which includes the site of many protests

         14  historically in Central Park and the United Nations.

         15                 I have been a legal observer at

         16  demonstrations both within and with outside of New

         17  York City, and have observed policing tactics and

         18  media strategies of the government used during these

         19  demonstrations and as they're being organized.

         20                 I have witnessed irresponsible and

         21  unconstitutional policing practices during recent

         22  demonstrations in our City against the invasion of

         23  Iraq and against the ongoing occupation there.

         24                 I am also a litigant, a plaintiff in

         25  one of the suits dealing with unlawful detention of
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          2  demonstrators.

          3                 My observations tell me that

          4  democracy is in trouble in our country and our City.

          5                 Consider that on February 15th the

          6  voices of those hundreds of thousands of

          7  demonstrators against the invasion in our district

          8  were precisely those that our country most needed

          9  here at that time.

         10                 Instead, our taxes were used to

         11  contest these demonstrators' rights and message at

         12  every step along the process.

         13                 I ask you here today, is it

         14  acceptable that our police be allowed to use their

         15  powers to diminish a message that is critical of our

         16  government's policies, whether these policies be

         17  against the war in Iraq or for them in this case,

         18  corporate managed trade, or the limiting of

         19  affordable housing opportunities. I know your answer

         20  and I encourage your strong efforts to protect our

         21  Constitution.

         22                 I believe that there are three areas

         23  of preeminent concerns, for myself, in any case, in

         24  the way that demonstrations have been policed.

         25                 The first concern deals with the
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          2  preparation by the police and the City for

          3  demonstration, the second the tactics and operations

          4  of the police, and the third, the costs.

          5                 First then, preparations of the

          6  police and the City. The training. The police are

          7  not adequately trained to recognize demonstrators,

          8  first as exercising their lawful rights to

          9  demonstrate; and second of all, as non-violent.

         10                 I have interviewed a number of police

         11  officers who consider the tradition of non-violent

         12  civil disobedience as a form of violence, and

         13  non-violence blocking of a thoroughfare, although

         14  this is not what is being planned for this summer's

         15  demonstration, that sort of understanding of our

         16  rights and our traditions in this country is

         17  troubling and it needs to be remedied.

         18                 Also, the police and the government

         19  and the media strategies, which before the

         20  demonstration set the scene and the stage for what

         21  will occur, and create in the public's mind an

         22  understanding of what is going on.

         23                 I think it is very important for the

         24  City Council and this Committee specifically, to

         25  assert its role and diffuse the alarmist rhetoric
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          2  that creates a context of fear in our City and other

          3  cities when demonstrations occur.

          4                 I hope that your Government

          5  Operations Committee will monitor the Mayor's Office

          6  and One Police Plaza to ensure that there's no

          7  repeat of providing false information, or misleading

          8  information to the public, and/or to the media

          9  regarding lawful and peaceful demonstrations.

         10                 Second, the tactic and operations of

         11  the police, Alex Vitale addressed most of those

         12  quite competently. I'd just like to underscore the

         13  First Amendment dimensions to what over-deployment

         14  results in and also to the use of pens.

         15                 When you have thousands of police

         16  officers often in riot gear, when you have pens that

         17  are blocking the protesters in one area, the

         18  demonstrators in one area and the general public in

         19  another, what you're communicating effectively is

         20  that these demonstrations are dangerous.

         21                 So, instead of providing a schedule

         22  of events and speakers when the police and the

         23  administration, the Bloomberg Administration

         24  discusses the protests and plans for the protests to

         25  deploy the police and to use pens, they are
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          2  promoting these events, not as a celebration of our

          3  First Amendment Rights, not as one moment in a long

          4  tradition of enjoying the right to protest in our

          5  country, they are promoting it instead as a conflict

          6  management opportunity, and as an opportunity to

          7  enforce order in our City, and that communicates the

          8  wrong message to the public that might otherwise

          9  join these demonstrations they had not heard of and

         10  take part in them.

         11                 So, the third element of cost, and

         12  Alex Vitale mentioned some of them, the World

         13  Economic forums, overtime pay for the police was 14,

         14  between 11- and 14 million dollars. It's ridiculous

         15  that we're spending money on something that does not

         16  provide for the safety of our citizens. And that

         17  we're doing so to the detriment of our right.

         18                 Then there's post demonstration

         19  litigation, which is costing our City a lot of

         20  money, both in the use of the Corporate Counsel and

         21  in the settlement of these suits.

         22                 So, I'd like to underscore that there

         23  are solutions, as Alex Vitale reminded us, but it

         24  seems like we're going in the wrong direction with

         25  these demonstrations, from Seattle to Washington,
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          2  into New York and Miami, it seems that increasingly

          3  what we're finding --

          4                 MR. TOLLIN: Would you please sum up

          5  your testimony?

          6                 MR. JERESKI: Sure.

          7                 -- Is increasingly sophisticated

          8  operations on the part of the government and police

          9  to restrict our rights to demonstrate.

         10                 Most recently the Atlanta model has

         11  seen a militarization of police of these

         12  demonstrations with armored Hum Vs in the streets in

         13  Atlanta. I think we need them in Iraq right now. Our

         14  soldiers are at risk because we don't have this

         15  equipment. They're being used here in our cities to

         16  produce demonstrations.

         17                 So, I would like to encourage the

         18  police and recognize the police, they have a

         19  legitimate role to play in preserving security in

         20  our City, but that the City Council should really

         21  assert itself and its role and I'm very happy that

         22  the Council member has done so, both in the Patriot

         23  Act resolution and in this resolution that I really

         24  encourage the City Council to monitor the police, to

         25  monitor the training of the police, and the Mayor's
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          2  Office's statement, and the training in anticipation

          3  of these demonstrations.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 MR. HASAN: Thank you very much,

          6  Chairman Perkins, for this time. I sincerely

          7  appreciate it. My name is Terry Hasan. I am one of

          8  the leaders of the New York City Bill of Rights

          9  Defense Campaign.

         10                 First, just a little bit about

         11  myself, which I think is important. Just to get a

         12  glimpse into the sort of types of people that are

         13  involved in this campaign, it really cuts across a

         14  variety of broad spectrum. But I'm 37 years old. I

         15  grew up in Kew Gardens, Queens. With the exception

         16  of four years in Upstate in College, and two years

         17  in business school in Washington, D.C., I've spent

         18  nearly all of my life working and/or living in this

         19  City.

         20                 I have never really been politically

         21  active before. Aside from a brief stint as the

         22  Editor the Vasser Spectator, my alma mater

         23  spectator, newspaper, but for the most part I

         24  consider myself a relatively ordinary person.

         25                 Now, suddenly on, or after 9/11, as a
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          2  Muslim American adult male, I was categorized,

          3  quote, as a suspicious person. I don't see myself as

          4  a dangerous person, nor does anyone else who knows

          5  me see me as such; yet, I've heard many say that

          6  people like me are a danger, a danger to this

          7  country, that we are a threat to national security.

          8                 Now, the reason I see for this is

          9  pretty simple, it's boilerplate stereotyping and

         10  it's guilt by association. In this case ethnic

         11  association.

         12                 Well, I'm here. I'm a very real

         13  person, and I think I'm quite different than the

         14  image that's been drummed into people's minds and

         15  reinforced with every utterance, but because of that

         16  false image, many people feel that it's okay to tell

         17  my basic democratic rights, as a citizen, which I

         18  am, my basic rights as a member of a democracy,

         19  which I am and many others are who are not citizens.

         20                 Okay, here is the key point. I have

         21  come to realize that this problem that I'm

         22  experiencing that other people who are of South

         23  Asian or Middle Eastern background are experiencing,

         24  this problem extends far beyond people of that

         25  dissent, the circle so-to-speak of suspicion is
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          2  widening, as these things typically do.

          3                 We've seen that during the McCarthy

          4  era, we've seen that during the Co-Intel Programs,

          5  and we're seeing it now again.

          6                 Now, any American, any American who

          7  actively engages in the political process is in

          8  danger of having their basic democratic rights

          9  curtailed.

         10                 Case in point. Obviously, February

         11  15th, the anti-war protest, or anti-invasion

         12  protest, has been frequently alluded to today. Well,

         13  let me tell you what my experience was. I was there

         14  with my best friend of 25 years, Nick, who

         15  coincidentally he's a professional coach, he teaches

         16  empowerment for people in people's careers. But

         17  anyway, we saw hundreds of thousands of people

         18  there, carrying signs, waving banners, chanting, I

         19  think engaging in what someone like Thomas Jefferson

         20  would have been really, really proud to see. I think

         21  what he envisioned.

         22                 So, what happened? Well, almost

         23  immediately, or very shortly thereafter the

         24  beginning of the protest, it suddenly turns into a

         25  scene, a battle scene from the movie Brave Heart,
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          2  with horses charging people on the ground. We're a

          3  civil society here. That's just wrong.

          4                 And what were these people doing?

          5  They were doing nothing but expressing themselves in

          6  a manner the Founding Fathers intended.

          7                 I think the Founding Fathers would

          8  really, really support what they were doing. I don't

          9  think they would support a political citizenry.

         10                 Now, I ask you a question. These

         11  people were charged on horseback; were these people

         12  a threat to national security?

         13                 During the protest -- another story.

         14  During the protest a friend of mine called me up. He

         15  said that he wanted to know where I was because he

         16  was there as well. And I said, oh, I thought you

         17  were with so and so, a mutual friend? He said he was

         18  but he left this pen, four-sided enclosure that he

         19  was in, to use, go to a men's room in a restaurant,

         20  and he wasn't allowed back in.

         21                 All right, so, what does he do? He

         22  goes home. Is that a tragedy for him? No, many

         23  others fared far worse than he did. But I think it

         24  was a poignant example of how the use of these pens

         25  discouraged political activity. That's the
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          2  ramifications here. And what about all the people

          3  that were arrested for no other reason than they

          4  were engaged in a protest. Try getting a well paid

          5  job, or even a decent paid job with an arrest

          6  record. Now, maybe it's possible, I don't know,

          7  because thankfully I do not have one, but I think

          8  that just the threat alone of having a potential

          9  arrest is enough to keep people who have very many

         10  serious financial responsibilities away.

         11                 So, what's the take-away? What's the

         12  point here? That merely the incredible threat of

         13  improper arrest is enough to stifle working citizens

         14  from engaging in the political process. These people

         15  are practically being asked to choose between their

         16  roles as citizens and their roles as providers.

         17  That, in my opinion, is a false choice that no

         18  American, no New Yorker, should have to face. Ever.

         19                 Now, I won't take much more of your

         20  time. So, in closing I will say this. I would like

         21  to offer more of a broader observation.

         22                 Every day all of us, all Americans,

         23  are encouraged to see ourselves as consumers. And I

         24  don't think there's anything wrong with that,

         25  because I happen to believe a rising tide lifts all
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          2  boats. I think a strong economy benefits us all.

          3                 But in a democracy, we should never

          4  forget that we are also civic participants, all of

          5  us, if active civic participation is rarely, if

          6  ever, emphasized in our mass culture, it's nice to

          7  see, in all honesty, the people in this room not

          8  succumbing to that myopic pressure in our society.

          9  And when I say people in this room, I mean the

         10  people who are here in front of us, and I mean the

         11  people who are in the back of the room, I mean

         12  everybody.

         13                 It's nice to see that. But let's face

         14  it, we don't see encouragement of the civic process

         15  in our mass culture. We don't see it on television,

         16  we don't see it in the news, and we don't see it in

         17  movies anymore. You know, it's been a long time

         18  since Mr. Smith goes to Washington, and maybe it's

         19  time he came back to City Hall.

         20                 So, here we are in a situation where

         21  we can, if not encourage civic participation, then

         22  at the least we should not be discouraging it,

         23  because if we do discourage civic participation, we

         24  should not be surprised to find ourselves living in

         25  a society where we are a democracy, not in spirit,
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          2  but in name alone.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

          5                 I'm going to ask the last three

          6  speakers if you can keep to two to three minutes,

          7  only because we have another Committee coming in

          8  here at 1:00 and we're already running over.

          9                 MS. SULLIVAN: Thank you. My name is

         10  Kathleen Sullivan, and I work at Educators for

         11  Social Responsibility here in New York. It's nice to

         12  see you again, Councilman Perkins, and thank you

         13  very much for this opportunity and for your support

         14  for exercising our democratic freedoms.

         15                 My job is working with young people

         16  to raise awareness about the continuing nuclear

         17  threat, and the spread of nuclear weapons to other

         18  countries and the proliferation, ongoing

         19  proliferation of nuclear weapons.

         20                 I want to share with you very briefly

         21  something that happened to me about a month ago, and

         22  several people this morning have already referred to

         23  it. But about one month ago I was up late on a

         24  Sunday evening, and I came upon the program Reel New

         25  York, R-e-e-l New York, which is a fabulous program
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          2  on channel 13 about films made by New Yorkers. And

          3  before me unfolded a most extraordinary scene, one

          4  that was very heartening, but also deeply sad. It

          5  was Robert Rifter's film In Our Hands, which is the

          6  documentary of the June 12th, 1982 event which many

          7  people have referred to this morning when 1 million

          8  people marched on the great lawn in Central Park.

          9  And I commend you to this film, because one of the

         10  things that was so striking about it was to see the

         11  police participation in the demonstration of the

         12  Police Department, were in uniforms of their blue

         13  shirts alone, they were often featured in Cameo

         14  interviews throughout the film, supporting people's

         15  right to be there, and according to the police, not

         16  one arrest was made on that day.

         17                 I am here for a personal reason. One

         18  of the things that is upsetting to me when I look

         19  toward the Republican National Convention, is that I

         20  have made a decision that I'm not happy with; and

         21  that is, that I'm only involving students of mine

         22  who are over the years of 18 years old to

         23  participate in demonstrations with me at the

         24  Republican National Convention, because I fear for

         25  their safety.
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          2                 This is a very upsetting and

          3  saddening position to have taken, but given the fact

          4  that there is such a lack in planning and a lack of

          5  knowledge of what might happen around the Republican

          6  National Convention, this is something that I have

          7  chosen to do.

          8                 As a person who dedicates her life to

          9  working with young people to encourage them in the

         10  civic process and particularly to look at the issues

         11  of war and peace, this was not an easy decision to

         12  make, and it saddens me, and my question to the City

         13  of New York, and those officials who are in charge

         14  of making decisions about our rights to protest, is

         15  how can we teach young people, our future leaders,

         16  about issues of war and peace and conflict

         17  resolution when we cannot safely protect their

         18  rights to peacefully protest. And I would like to

         19  thank you once again for your participation in this

         20  and I hope that you will have some positive outcome

         21  and that around the Republican National Convention

         22  people will be able to exercise their democratic

         23  rights.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MR. ROSQUIST: Okay, first off, I'd
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          2  like to thank you very much for your kind words

          3  about all our work that we did with the Bill of

          4  Rights Campaign, with the Resolution 60, and I'd

          5  also like to thank you and all the City Council

          6  members that show the fine leadership to pass it.

          7  But more than anything, I really would like to thank

          8  you, as one of the people that worked on it, I

          9  really would like to thank you for the proclamation.

         10  That really made us all feel really great. It made

         11  us feel that even more that what we were doing was

         12  worthwhile.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 Mr. Chairman, members of the City

         15  Council, ladies and gentlemen. My name is George

         16  Rosquist, and I am here today as a representative of

         17  Freedom Now, which is a nonpartisan group and one of

         18  the 96 organizations with the New York City Bill of

         19  Rights Defense Campaign.

         20                 I come before you today to give

         21  testimony in favor of resolution 389 2004, the

         22  Freedom of Assembly resolution.

         23                 The founding fathers had the wisdom

         24  to enact the First Amendment among the many of the

         25  Bill of Rights, of which we are particularly
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          2  concerned with today.

          3                 Being the First Amendment, it must

          4  have been the prominent one on their minds. It

          5  guarantees the right of assembly, association, free

          6  speech, and free expression, as well the right to

          7  petition the government to redress the grievances,

          8  among other things.

          9                 Perhaps free speech, expression,

         10  assembly and association were covered together

         11  because they are closely related and interrelated.

         12                 Recently, very recently New York City

         13  was honored to host the Puerto Rican Day Parade. I

         14  can recall the news reports estimating a crowd to be

         15  as high as 2 million people.

         16                 Whatever the actual number was, it is

         17  safe to say that it was a large assembly as

         18  gatherings go. Yet, that crowd was not penned in any

         19  restrictive way. In fact, I also recall that his

         20  Honor, Mayor Bloomberg, who was one of the civil

         21  dignataries at that event, expressed his distress or

         22  indignation, if outrage is not too strong a word,

         23  over property owners constructing various forms of

         24  fences around their buildings along the parade

         25  route.
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          2                 I can't recall his exact words, but I

          3  believe the word "insulting" was one of them. And it

          4  should have been. It was insulting.

          5                 However, the greater point to make is

          6  that as large a group as this crowd was, there was

          7  no need for police horses, menacing dogs,

          8  government's snipers on roofs, pepper spray or any

          9  provocative police conduct, as well as no need for

         10  pens to herd the people of the City of New York in.

         11                 Indeed, it was a peaceful and

         12  enjoyable day to the extent that his honor and the

         13  Mayor and the other dignataries felt safe and

         14  comfortable enough to be able to walk within the

         15  parade.

         16                 Another aspect of this event that

         17  there was no of those pesky rainbow alert warnings.

         18  It has become increasingly noticeable in many

         19  circles in this City that there is a correlation

         20  between the rainbow alerts that occur more

         21  frequently in conjunction with events and gatherings

         22  organized around expressions of political dissent.

         23                 Yet, at events like the St. Patrick's

         24  Day Parade, Macy's Parade, New Years Eve celebration

         25  or in Times Square, or even the traditional 4th of
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          2  July fireworks alert -- fireworks displays, all of

          3  which drew large crowds, conspicuously absent

          4  alerts, pens, large mounted police presence, pepper

          5  spray, or provocative police actions.

          6                 This is in stark contrast of other

          7  peaceful events, that like the anti-war

          8  demonstration held here in the City on February

          9  15th, 2003.

         10                 Perhaps the most noticeable aspect in

         11  all of this is the sudden difficulty the City of New

         12  York is experiencing in issuing permits to

         13  particular groups, organized around particular

         14  speech and expressions of dissent.

         15                 On the eve of the upcoming Republican

         16  National Convention that be hosted in the City, the

         17  panic inspector of these rainbow alerts returns as

         18  the application for permits to rally and demonstrate

         19  (sic) are met with strong walls.

         20                 Publicly, the press excuses about

         21  protecting the grass in Central Park are devised.

         22  Yet, every New Yorker, as well as most tourists from

         23  around the world who have visited this city, know

         24  that Central Park has a very long history and is

         25  noted as hosting hundreds of large concerts, plays
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          2  and other events, and the grass there now can trace

          3  its lineage back to the day that park opened.

          4                 The park was created specifically for

          5  the use of the people to enjoy it. Why not? It's

          6  their park.

          7                 Grass seed is cheap, particularly

          8  compared to other City expenditures to celebrate

          9  other events anyway. But beyond the eyes and ears of

         10  the press, other excuses stall and delay permits to

         11  many groups are being made. They are experiencing

         12  extreme difficulties in getting their applications

         13  for permits finalized. Some have reported that they

         14  were told that no permits would be issued not only

         15  during the RNC but for weeks prior to it and

         16  subsequent to it.

         17                 It could be argued that if there were

         18  a draw for terrorists to attack, it is the RNC that

         19  would be the more attractive target. Accordingly, it

         20  could further be argued that holding the RNC here in

         21  this City puts the residents of New York City in

         22  greater risk of harm, and that in the public

         23  interest the RNC should not be permitted to meet

         24  here.

         25                 We find that while there may be some
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          2  grain of truth to that logic, it would be

          3  unconscionable to refuse them permission and access

          4  to meet in this City because of that or because of

          5  their political messages or purposes.

          6                 MR. TOLLIN: If you could please sum

          7  up. Sorry to interrupt you, it's just that the other

          8  Committee is ready to come in.

          9                 Sum up in another minute and 30

         10  seconds.

         11                 MR. ROSQUIST: Oh, okay. Yes, I'm

         12  almost finished.

         13                 We do stress that it is equally

         14  unconscionable to refuse any groups or organizations

         15  the same right to permission and access to freely

         16  assemble and express their messages, political or

         17  otherwise. Those with problems in issuing these

         18  permits and treating these assemblies equally with

         19  respect for the freedom of our constitution

         20  guarantees all need to be made to understand that

         21  dissent is not only patriotic, it is much more than

         22  that. It is the essence of democracy. Indeed,

         23  dissent is a civic duty in a democracy. The

         24  constitution does not guarantee grass, but it does

         25  guarantee the rights of assembly and expression.
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          2                 The guarantees of free speech,

          3  expression, assembly and association are related and

          4  interrelated. The Founders drew upon the ideals of

          5  democracy and the ideals and concepts of the

          6  prominent philosophers of their day. One such

          7  philosopher comes to mind who eloquently expressed

          8  the very spirit of the rights of free speech and

          9  free expression. It was Voltaire who said, "I

         10  disagree --"I disapprove of what you say, but, I

         11  will defend to the death your right to say it."

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 MR. WARREN: Okay, I'll make this very

         14  quick.

         15                 My name is Ralph Warren, and I said I

         16  was involved with the Suffolk County Bill of Rights

         17  Defense Committee, so I will say that I'm really

         18  speaking for myself here, but in association with

         19  that effort, and would want to thank you very much

         20  for your efforts to pass the resolution to defend

         21  our bill of rights, and question issues relating to

         22  the Patriot Act back several months ago.

         23                 It's very helpful to our current

         24  efforts on Long Island, and the towns and counties

         25  there.
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          2                 I have two quick practical questions.

          3  I'm going to forego what I wanted to comment on, and

          4  hopefully we'll get to that in the future. But my

          5  concerns center on protecting average people and not

          6  protest. And what I would defer to in terms of

          7  reference is the ACLU Washington State Report during

          8  Seattle.  I lived there before and after Seattle,

          9  and the worst harm came to the people in the

         10  neighborhood removed from the convention area.

         11                 So, I will raise two questions, one

         12  of which I kind of hinted at, when you chaired that

         13  thing, that excellent panel, actually, up in

         14  February in Harlem. The most important question is

         15  will you hold in this short time now a meeting north

         16  and south of the convention center in Manhattan that

         17  will get information out to neighborhoods about what

         18  has happened both in Seattle, and with the Miami

         19  model, as it may impact people's day-to-day

         20  businesses, their lives, during the convention

         21  period. I think it's one way to implement what you

         22  said before, is can we work together, not just an us

         23  versus them in every case. This is one concrete way

         24  to do this in the next number of weeks we have

         25  between now and August 15th basically.
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          2                 The other thing is, will City Council

          3  accept testimony on any issue, as many ones do, like

          4  Seattle would, then we come to any City Council

          5  general meeting and present testimony on these

          6  issues of concern about the life of the City during

          7  the convention period?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, those are

          9  interesting questions, in essence of which is you

         10  want us to have some hearings during the period of

         11  the convention.

         12                 MR. WARREN: No. No. Can we have, can

         13  we work with your Committee to facilitate various

         14  groups that are well aware of what happens during

         15  protest as it affects the City, working with

         16  neighborhood organizations, and some are interested,

         17  north and south of the convention area in Manhattan

         18  that will be most directly affected by this event?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, indeed.

         20  That's a great idea. We'll see what we can do to

         21  make that happen.

         22                 MR. WARREN: And then second question:

         23  Can anyone testify on any topic in an open public

         24  comment period in City Council here?

         25                 I'm not aware of -- I haven't tried
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          2  to do that so I don't know for sure?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, we don't

          4  generally have what you might call an open mic.

          5                 MR. WARREN: Okay.

          6                 That's what I would expect in your

          7  City, because it's say much larger than say

          8  Huntington or Seattle.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But it's an

         10  intriguing idea, but I don't know how practically we

         11  can accomplish that. But let's put that on the table

         12  and see what we can come up with.

         13                 MR. WARREN: Because I'm wondering if

         14  this will be scheduled for a vote between now and

         15  then, the other one was held up, and if it's not

         16  scheduled, will there be any direct opportunity for

         17  us other than in writing to get this information to

         18  Council members?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, we did

         20  have a vote on the resolution.

         21                 MR. WARREN: Here in Committee.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And the

         23  Committee vote passed, and it passed in the

         24  Committee.

         25                 MR. WARREN: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We're leaving

          3  the vote open for those members who were not able to

          4  vote now but who have good reasons to want to vote

          5  later. Extenuating circumstances.

          6                 MR. WARREN: Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That vote will

          8  be that the Committee approved the resolution, and

          9  then it will go to the general body on the 28th, I

         10  believe.

         11                 MR. WARREN: Oh, so it is scheduled.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It's scheduled

         13  for the 28th.

         14                 MR. WARREN: Oh, okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And I think we

         16  won't have a problem there.

         17                 MR. WARREN: Excellent.

         18                 So, at that time there won't be any

         19  public comment, though?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No.

         21                 MR. WARREN: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That will be a

         23  general Stated Meeting.

         24                 MR. WARREN: Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And there is no
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          2  public comment at that time.

          3                 MR. WARREN: Okay.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: But mission

          5  accomplished in terms of at least getting the

          6  Council to support it.

          7                 MR. WARREN: That's encouraging. I

          8  didn't realize the process.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes.

         10                 MR. WARREN: Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you for

         12  your time and for your thoughts and your concern

         13  about our democracy and all the good work you've

         14  done up til now. We really need you to continue the

         15  work that you're doing and continue to be in touch

         16  with us as a City Council.

         17                 Let me say that this is not simply

         18  for us in this Committee about the Republican

         19  National Convention, it's not simply from our point

         20  of view a police matter or a matter concerning

         21  Central Park or any park for that matter. It's more

         22  fundamental than that in terms of our democracy and

         23  in terms of the First Amendment and in terms of our

         24  interest of protecting the Civil Liberties of New

         25  Yorkers. And from that perspective it falls into the
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          2  jurisdiction of this Governmental Operations

          3  Committee, because there are multiple agencies

          4  involved, and those agencies are touching in their

          5  separate ways but nevertheless together on that

          6  fundamental concern about the quality of our

          7  government, with this Committee is charged at

          8  looking at the quality of our government, looking at

          9  good government, and that's why it's appropriate

         10  that this Committee could be the one to shepherd

         11  through the Patriot Act, or in this case this

         12  resolution today and similar resolutions that may

         13  come up again, or similar issues such as this that

         14  may come up again in the future.

         15                 Let me just mention one other thing,

         16  that we are in the budget negotiating process now,

         17  and in that process we take into consideration

         18  extenuating circumstances that we would have to deal

         19  with from a budgetary point of view.

         20                 So, we take into consideration, for

         21  instance, the need for police overtime. We take into

         22  consideration the need for sanitation overtime, and

         23  by the same token, we should be taking into

         24  consideration the need to perhaps redo the lawn in

         25  the event that the demonstration does some damage,
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          2  and we should budget that, as we budget all those

          3  other instances.

          4                 So, it's not as if we don't know how

          5  to deal with extenuating circumstances that are

          6  necessary, either for safety, for health or in this

          7  case for the sake of freedom of assembly and for the

          8  sake of people's civil liberty.

          9                 And, so, from our point of view, it's

         10  not a good reason to say we can't afford to mess up

         11  the lawn. No, we don't want to mess up the lawn, but

         12  if that's the price that people have to pay, that

         13  the citizens I'm sure would pay it if it means

         14  protecting their civil liberties.

         15                 So, with that in mind, I want to

         16  thank everybody for their participation, and see you

         17  at the convention.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 1:24 p.m.)
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         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 16th day of June 2004.
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3
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          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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